## BUILT ENVIRONMENT AND POST-MENOPAUSAL BREAST CANCER RISK: ANALYSIS OF A LINKED BRITISH COLUMBIAN COHORT

by

## SEAN PATRICK HARRIGAN

B.Sc., The University of Victoria, 2017

## A THESIS SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF

## MASTER OF SCIENCE

in

## THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE AND POSTDOCTORAL STUDIES (Population and Public Health)

# THE UNIVERSITY OF BRITISH COLUMBIA (Vancouver)

April 2021

© Sean Patrick Harrigan, 2021

The following individuals certify that they have read, and recommend to the Faculty of Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies for acceptance, a thesis entitled:

Built Environment and Post-menopausal Breast Cancer: Analysis of a Linked British Columbian Cohort

submitted by <u>Sean Harrigan</u> in partial fulfillment of the requirements for

the degree of: <u>Master of Science</u>

in Population and Public Health

## **Examining Committee:**

Dr. Trevor Dummer, Population and Public Health, UBC Supervisor

Dr. John Spinelli, Population and Public Health, UBC Supervisory Committee Member

Dr. Lawrence Frank, Population and Public Health, UBC Supervisory Committee Member

Dr. Rachel Murphy, Population and Public Health, UBC Additional Examiner

## Abstract

**Background:** Breast cancer is the most common type of cancer worldwide and the second leading cause of cancer deaths in women.<sup>1–5</sup> Up to 50% of breast cancer cases are preventable, underscoring the importance of research into underlying risk factors, especially for post-menopausal women.<sup>6</sup> With urbanization rates increasing in recent decades, the built environment may contain an important yet understudied set of modifiable breast cancer risk factors.<sup>7</sup>

**Objectives:** To evaluate the impact of three factors of the built environment– traffic-related air pollution (TRAP), measured using NO<sub>2</sub>, walkability, and residential greenness – on risk of breast cancer in post-menopausal women in the Lower Mainland of British Columbia (BC).

**Methods:** This research was conducted using BC Generations Project<sup>8</sup> cohort and linked CANUE<sup>9</sup> environmental datasets. Descriptive statistics summarized socio-demographic, behavioural and health indicators in relation to the built environment. Cox proportional hazard regression was used to model cancer risk for three built environmental factors, while adjusting for relevant confounders. A change-in-effect model building strategy was used.

**Results:** The study included 7,330 participants, including 122 incident breast cancer cases. The HR for a 10-ppb increase in baseline NO<sub>2</sub> was 1.45 (95% CI=0.90, 2.33; p=0.12), whereas the HR for NO<sub>2</sub> averaged over the years 1980-2012 was 1.41 (95% CI=0.95, 2.08; p = 0.09), both adjusting for body mass index and social deprivation. The walkability model had HRs adjusted for social deprivation, ranging from 1.67 to 2.53 for quintile (Q) 2 though Q5 (Q5 being most walkable), with the highest HR being for Q3 (test for trend p=0.05). The HR (unadjusted) for baseline greenness was 0.96 for a 1-interquartile range increase (p=0.76), The HR for greenness averaged over 1982-2016 adjusted for social deprivation was 0.80 (p=0.07).

**Conclusions:** Although statistically non-significant, the magnitude and direction of TRAP HR was similar to previous studies. This study was the first study to our knowledge to assess whether walkability and greenness are associated with breast cancer risk. We found that those residing in less walkable communities; or in neighbourhoods with more greenness had lower risk of breast cancer (statistically non-significant). More research into these associations is warranted.

## Lay summary

Breast cancer is the leading cause of cancer among women worldwide resulting in a large burden of illness. There are many breast cancer risk factors, including those that can and cannot be modified. When it comes to cancer prevention, modifiable risk factors are of particular interest. The urban environment is comprised of an understudied set of modifiable risk factors. This study used the British Columbia Generations Project cohort linked with the Canadian Urban Environmental Research Consortium dataset in attempts to analyse characteristics of the built environment as a risk factor for breast cancer in post-menopausal women in British Columbia. The study found increased breast cancer risk for residents living in areas with increased baseline and longitudinal traffic-related air pollution. Although these results were not significant, the magnitude of risk was similar to previous research. Decreased levels of longitudinal greenness and increased levels of walkability were associated with a decreased risk of breast cancer, both results were near significant. This research will provide insight for individuals, planners, and policy makers on how to identify and mitigate cancer risks. Further research in this field is warranted to fully understand the role different aspects of the built environment have on post-menopausal breast cancer risk.

## Preface

This thesis received ethical approval from the University of British Columbia (UBC) Behavioral Research Ethics Board (REB) on March 27, 2020 in a Post Approval Activity (H20-00151). Data were drawn from the ongoing British Columbia Generations Project (BCGP).

The work presented in this thesis was conducted under the supervision of Dr. Trevor Dummer, with guidance from the supervisory committee: Dr. John Spinelli and Dr. Lawrence Frank. The literature review and statistical analyses were carried out by Sean Harrigan. The ethics application and data request were completed by Sean Harrigan. The study design was conceived and conducted by Sean Harrigan, with assistance from Dr. Dummer and Dr. Spinelli. Analysis was conducted by Sean Harrigan with guidance from committee members. Finally, the thesis writing was completed by Sean Harrigan, and reviewed by the committee members.

## Table of contents

Abstra	et	iii		
Lay su	nmary	iv		
Preface		v		
Table of	f contents	vi		
List of	List of tablesix			
List of				
List of	abbreviations	xi		
Acknow	vledgements	. xii		
Dedica	ion	xiii		
Chapte	r 1:Background and objectiv	ves		
1.1	Study Background	1		
1.2	Objectives and problem statement	. 2		
1.3	Rationale	. 3		
1.4	Ethical considerations	. 3		
1.5	Thesis outline	. 4		
Chapte	r 2: Background and scoping literature revi	ew 5		
2.1 2.1 2.1	<ul> <li>Breast cancer overview</li></ul>	. 5 5 7		
2.2	Measure of the built environment	10		
2.3 2.3 2.3 2.3	Built environment as risk factors for breast cancer – A scoping review         .1       Scoping review outline and methodology         .2       Scoping review results         .3       Scoping review conclusions	<i>12</i> 12 14 19		
2.4	<i>Obesity and PA: the indirect link between the built environment and breast cancer</i>	19		

Chapter 3:		Methods
3.1	Study design	
32	Study Population	22
3.2	1 Sources of data	
3.2	2 Setting of study: The Lower Mainland of BC	
3.2.	.3 Inclusion and exclusion criteria	
3.3	Data and variable cleaning	
3.4	Missing data	
3.5	Descriptive characteristics and bivariate analysis	
3.5.	.1 Study variables	
3.5.	2 Participant health and personal baseline characteristics	
3.5.	.3 The Built environment	
3.6	Multivariable analysis	
3.6	.1 Cox proportional hazards regression	
3.6	2 Model building approach	
3.7	Statistical software	
Chapter	: 4:	Results
4.1	Study population	
4.2	Missing data	
4.3	Descriptive characteristics and bivariable analysis	
4.3	1 The built environment	
4.4	Multivariable analysis – Cox PH regression	
4.4	.1 Air pollution (NO <sub>2</sub> )	
4.4	2 Walkability	
4.4	3 Greenness	
Chapter	r 5: Disc	cussion and conclusion
		63
5.1	Findings	
5.1	.1 Overview and interpretation of findings	
5.1	2 Air pollution	
5.1.	3 Walkability	
5.1	4 Greenness	
5.2	Strengths and limitations	
5.2	1 Limitations	74
5.2.	2 Strengths	
5.3	Study implications	
5.3	.1 Public health implications	

5.3	3.2 Public policy	
5.4	Conclusion	
5.5	Future recommendations	
Referen	ices	81
Append	lices	
Apper	ndix A: Supplementary tables	

## List of tables

Table 1: Age standardized incidence and mortality rates for breast cancer in BC in 2017
Table 2: PECO study inclusion criteria
Table 3: Ethnic makeup of the Lower Mainland
Table 4: Study variables
Table 5: Missing values for variables of study    46
Table 6: Baseline participant demographics    48
Table 7: Built environment characteristics    50
Table 8: Spearman correlations between built environment variables    56
Table 9: Baseline TRAP (NO2) change-in-effect Cox PH model
Table 10: Averaged TRAP (NO <sub>2</sub> ) from 1980 – 2016 change-in-effect Cox PH model 58
Table 11: Categorical walkability change-in-effect Cox PH model
Table 12: Greenness (NDVI) change-in-effect Cox PH model    60
Table 13: Categorical baseline greenness (NDVI) change-in-effect Cox PH model 61
Table 14: Average greenness (NDVI) between 1982-2016 change-in-effect Cox PH model 62
Table 15: Categorical greenness (NDVI) between 1982-2016 change-in-effect Cox model 62
Table A1: 3-digit postal code FSA
Table A2: Change-in-estimate HR ratio percent change for average NO2    109
Table A3: Change-in-estimate HR ratio percent change for average NO2
Table A4: Change-in-estimate HR ratio percent change for walkability
Table A5: Change-in-estimate HR ratio percent change for green space (NDVI) 110
Table A6: Change-in-estimate HR ratio percent change for average green space (NDVI) 111

## List of figures

Figure 1: PRISMA diagram of publications in scoping review	. 15
Figure 2: Map of Lower Mainland	. 25
Figure 3: PRISMA diagram of study population	. 45
Figure 4: Baseline air pollution (ppb NO <sub>2</sub> ) for breast cancer cases and non-cases	. 51
Figure 5: Average air pollution (NO <sub>2</sub> ) for cases and non-cases between 1980-2012	. 52
Figure 6: Walkability z-scores for breast cancer cases and non-cases	. 53
Figure 7: Baseline greenness (NDVI) for cases and non-cases	. 54
Figure 8: Average greenness (NDVI) for cases and non-cases between 1982 – 2016	. 55

## List of abbreviations

BC	British Columbia
BCGP	British Columbia Generations Project
BRCA1	Breast cancer gene 1
BRCA2	Breast cancer gene 1
CANUE	Canadian Urban Environmental health Research Consortium
cm	Centimetre
DAG	Directed acyclic graph
DES	Diethylstilboestrol
DNA	Deoxyribose nucleic acid
ER	Estrogen receptor
FSA	Forward Sortation Area
HRT	Hormone replacement therapy
kg	Kilogram
LUR	Land use regression
NO <sub>2</sub>	Nitrogen dioxide
NO <sub>x</sub>	Nitrogen Oxides
PA	Physical activity
РАН	Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon
PM	Particulate matter
PPB	Parts per billion
PPV	Positive predictive value
PR	Progesterone receptor
SES	Socio-economic status
TRAP	Traffic-related air pollution
UFP	Ultrafine particles
US	United States
Veg	Vegetables
WHO	World Health Organization
α	Alpha
μm	Micrometer

## Acknowledgements

Firstly, I would like to thank my supervisor, Dr. Trevor Dummer for all the support and guidance throughout the entire process. I would also like to thank my committee members Dr. John Spinelli for all of your advice and direction on the study design and statistical analysis, as well as Dr. Lawrence Frank, for your expertise on the urban environment.

I would also like to acknowledge UBC, CIHR and the Laurel Watters Fellowship for the financial support as well as the BC Generations Project research and data manager for access to the data.

Finally, I would like to thank my family and friends for all the motivation and support, as well as mi novia Valeria, muchas gracias! You have all been a huge inspiration to me throughout my life, thank you.

To,

Mom & Dad

## Chapter 1: Background and objectives

### 1.1 Study Background

Breast cancer is the most common cancer in women worldwide and the leading cause of cancer deaths among women.<sup>1–5</sup> Breast cancer risk increases with age and lifetime exposure to estrogen, resulting in a doubling of breast cancer risk for post-menopausal women.<sup>10</sup> Other known risk factors include genetic mutations, family history, reproductive history, and lifestyle factors.<sup>11</sup> Research indicates that up to 50% of breast cancers are preventable and are due to environmental and behavioural factors, which may include air pollution and physical activity (PA), among others.<sup>6</sup> This underscores the importance of research into these risk factors, especially for post-menopausal women.

Characteristics associated with the built environment are important modifiable risk factors that can influence breast cancer risk.<sup>12</sup> Urban areas with increased traffic-related pollutants, such as nitrogen dioxide (NO<sub>2</sub>), have been linked to increased risk of breast cancer.<sup>11,13–16</sup> Similarly, residential greenness and walkability are important urban characteristics. Greenness and access to green spaces is the surrounding level of vegetation or access to parks, woods, etc., whereas walkability is how conducive the environment is to using walking as a form of transport. Urban green space and walkability also have been shown to play a role in chronic disease, both directly and indirectly, but little research has been done in breast cancer specifically.<sup>17–20</sup> Importantly, these factors are also linked to important health risks, such as reduced PA and obesity, which are also associated with increased risk of developing breast cancer.<sup>20–23</sup>

## 1.2 Objectives and problem statement

In line with global trends, breast cancer is the most common cancer in women in British Columbia (BC), accounting for nearly 30% of cancer diagnoses and making it the most common cancer type among women.<sup>24</sup> This statistic outlines the importance for research into modifiable approaches to reduce the breast cancer burden in the province.

One set of understudied set of risk factors are characteristics of the built environment (both humanmade and natural factors), specifically TRAP, greenness, and walkability. Assessment of the impact that the built environment has on breast cancer risk may play a key role in further reducing the burden on breast cancer. This study used a longitudinal cohort design to assess the relationship between breast cancer risk and three characteristics of the built environment.

The study utilized the British Columbia Generations Project (BCGP)<sup>8</sup> cohort and linked Canadian Urban Environmental health Research Consortium (CANUE)<sup>9</sup> datasets, specifically TRAP, walkability and greenness, to characterize the impact of specific features of the built environment as risk factors for breast cancer in post-menopausal women in BC.

The study objectives are:

 Conduct a scoping review on how characteristics of the built environment (specifically, TRAP, urban walkability and residential greenness) affects breast cancer incidence in postmenopausal women.

- 2. Summarize the BCGP cohort in relation to TRAP (NO<sub>2</sub>), walkability and residential greenness in relation to breast cancer cases and non-cancer participants.
- 3. Assess the association between TRAP, walkability and greenness and breast cancer risk

#### 1.3 Rationale

This longitudinal analysis of built environment risk factors for breast cancer, with data on prediagnosis environmental exposures, provides an important addition to the literature. A direct association between TRAP has been observed in multiple observational studies, however some studies have not found conclusive results and many authors have indicated the need further research in the subject area to fully understand the association. Further, the literature assessing the association between breast cancer incidence and other aspects of the built environment (i.e., urban greenness and walkability) is very limited. This study is, to our knowledge, the first to assess the relationship between TRAP and breast cancer risk in the Lower Mainland of BC, as well as one of the first to investigate the relationship between greenness/walkability and breast cancer risk. This research may be able to provide insight for individuals, planners and policy makers on how to identify and mitigate risks and approaches to community design to lower breast cancer risk.

#### 1.4 Ethical considerations

The study was approved by the UBC Behavioural Research Ethics Board (REB) and involves secondary data analysis of BCGP and linked CANUE data. BCGP has been created as a resource for researchers to examine the environmental, social, and genetic causes of chronic disease. Both research risk and participant vulnerability are low. Research risk was minimized in this study as all data were de-identified through the assignment of a unique study ID number to each participant.

All data that could allow identification of participants was been suppressed (including postal codes). Only de-identified data was provided to the study team.

## 1.5 Thesis outline

This thesis is divided in to five chapters, organised as follows. Chapter 1 sets out the foundation for the thesis, the research objectives and the rationale for the study. Chapter 2 provides background and presents the scoping review on breast cancer risk and the built environment. Chapter 3 describes the methodology. This includes the descriptions of study design, the sources of data, the study participants and the aspects of the built environment. The statistical analyses performed in this study are also described in detail Chapter 3. The results and findings are presented in Chapter 4. Finally, Chapter 5 presents the discussion and conclusions. This includes a focus on the implication of the study as well as the strengths, weaknesses and future recommendations.

## Chapter 2: Background and scoping literature review

## 2.1 Breast cancer overview

## 2.1.1 Background and etiology

The human body is made up of trillions of cells. Cell growth and division makes up the natural cell lifecycle and results in the production of new cells.<sup>25</sup> When cells age or become damaged, they are programmed to die, in a process called apoptosis. However, when this process breaks down, the result is an uncontrolled group of cells. Cancer is the term used for a collection of diseases which involve cells in a part of the body to begin to divide without stopping.<sup>25</sup> Abnormal cancer cells continue to grow and divide even when they no longer function normally, or when new cells are not needed. This continuous growth and division can result in a mass of cells, called a tumour. Tumours can be either benign, premalignant or malignant. A benign tumour is localized and does not have the ability to spread to adjacent normal tissue, or to other parts of the body.<sup>26,27</sup> These types of tumours are not considered cancer. A premalignant tumours is a tumour which is not malignant, but has the possibility to become malignant in the future.<sup>28</sup> A malignant tumour (or cancer) is a tumour that has the capacity to spread to adjacent normal tumour and to other parts of the body. A malignant tumour that has not yet spread to adjacent normal tissue, it is called in situ. Once a tumour spreads to other body parts, other than lymph nodes close to the original tumour, it is termed a metastatic tumour. <sup>26,27</sup>

Staging of cancers is generally divided into four stages; however, these stages can vary by type of cancer. The most common type of staging for breast cancer is the TNM system – tumour (T), node (N) and metastasis (M).<sup>29–31</sup> Staging cancers can be a useful technique to describe how extensive the tumour in size, the number of lymph nodes near the tumour and the potential to spread.<sup>29</sup> Each

type of tumour, node and metastasis can be graded on a scale of 0 to 4.<sup>29</sup> Stage 0 represents in situ, non-invasive cancers. Stages 1 and 2 describe tumours that have spread only to adjacent normal tissue or nearby lymph nodes and is not very large. Stage 3 indicates a large tumour, with spread to numerous lymph nodes and to possibly the skin or chest wall. Finally, stage 4 represents when the cancer has metastasized to distant parts of the body, like the lungs, bones or brain.

Breast cancer originates in the breast. Although rare, breast cancer can also occur in men. Most often, breast cancer starts in the cells of the milk ducts, which are the tubes which transport milk from the mammary glands to the nipple.<sup>32</sup> This type of breast cancer is known as ductal carcinoma. Another common type of breast cancer is lobular carcinoma, which originates in the cells of the lobules. Breast lobules are groups of glands which produce milk.<sup>32</sup> Breast cancer is subdivided into five different subtypes which predict outcome.<sup>33</sup> These subtypes are based on the expression of hormone receptors; progesterone receptors (PR), estrogen receptors (ER), and the HER2 oncogene, which allow the cells to grow. Luminal A and B are ER/PR positive subtypes and have HER2 negative expressions. Luminal A is characterised by low-grade tumours that are generally slow growing, resulting in the best prognosis.<sup>34</sup> On the other hand, luminal B tumours grow slightly faster, resulting in a worse prognosis than luminal A. The third breast cancer subtype is called normal-like. This cancer is similar to luminal A and is characterised by hormone receptor positive and HER2 negative. Normal-like breast cancer generally has a good prognosis, albeit, slightly worse than luminal A. The final two subtypes are ER/PR negative. One subtype is characterised by very high expression of HER2.33-35 This is called HER2 enriched and are generally faster growing than luminal cancers. This subtype has a worse prognosis than those previously mentioned but can be treated with targeted therapies. Finally, triple-negative, or basal like tumours,

are cancers with negative hormone receptors and negative HER2 oncogenes. This subtype is more common in African American women compared to women of European ancestry.<sup>34</sup>

## 2.1.2 Epidemiology

Breast cancer is the most common type of cancer globally among women and is the leading cause of cancer death in women.<sup>36</sup> The global incidence for breast cancer is estimated at about 1.5 million new cases, with approximately half a million annual deaths.<sup>33</sup> In the United States (US), the American Cancer Society estimates that 1 in 8 women will develop breast cancer in their lifetime.<sup>37</sup> Breast cancer has been thought of as being a disease most prevalent in high income countries (HIC). The highest rates of breast cancer are in North America and the Oceania, and the lowest are in Africa and Asia.<sup>38</sup> However, this statistic may be changing, as a 2008 GLOBOCAN report stated that almost 50% of breast cancer cases and 58% of breast cancer deaths are in low- and middle-income countries (LMIC).<sup>39</sup> Current data has shown decreases in the incidence of breast cancer in HIC, and an increase in incidence in LMIC.<sup>36</sup> Due to difference in quality of, and access to, healthcare around the world, the 5-year survival of breast cancer varies greatly. Coleman et al. found that survival varied from 80% or over in North America, Japan and some of Europe to 60% in middle-income countries and to below 40% in low-income countries.<sup>40</sup> The study attributed this variation in survival to lack of early detection programs, and delayed onset of treatment.

In BC, breast cancer accounted for nearly 30% of cancer diagnoses in women, making it the most common cancer among women.<sup>24</sup> In 2017 in BC, 3,655 women were diagnosed with breast cancer (age standardized incidence rate of 147.1 per 100,000) and 675 women died (age standardized mortality rate of 27.1 per 100,000). The BC Cancer Agency estimates that 97% of BC women who

are diagnosed with breast cancer are over the age of 40. The BC age-standardized relative 5-year survival rate is 82.3%. The age-standardized relative 1- and 3- year survival rates are 95.9% and 88.9%, respectively. The table below presents a breakdown of incidence and mortality for BC women in 2017.

Age group	Number of incident cases	Number of deaths	Incidence rate*	Mortality rate*
0-19	0	0	0	0
20-39	155	10	23.9	1.8
40-59	1255	150	176.9	21.1
60-79	1745	315	338.1	61.0
80+	500	200	395.5	155.0
Total	3655	670	147.1	27.1

Table 1: Age standardized incidence and mortality rates for breast cancer in BC in 2017

Source: BC cancer<sup>24</sup>

\*Age standardized rates (per 100,000 women) – the standard population is BC women in 1970

There are many known risk factors for developing breast cancer; broadly related to behaviours, external factors, pre-existing conditions or genetics.<sup>41</sup> Many of these risk factors are not modifiable, for example, biological sex is a key risk factor for breast cancer, as nearly all cases occur in females and only approximately 1% of breast cancer cases occur in males.<sup>42</sup> Other important non-modifiable risk factors include aging, genetic mutations, having dense breasts and family history of breast cancer.<sup>43</sup> Key genetic mutations that increase breast cancer risk are the set of breast cancer genes BRCA1 and BRCA2. These genes are tumour suppressor genes and play a normal role in controlling cell growth and preventing the development of cancer. Mutations in these genes result in a large increase in breast cancer risk, with up to 85% of individuals with these mutations developing breast cancer in their lifetime.<sup>41</sup> However, despite this large increase in risk, these mutations are still quite rare, and only affect about 1 in 500 individuals.<sup>41,44</sup> Family history

also plays an important role, relatives with a history of breast cancer and non-cancerous breast disease can increase the risk for breast cancer.<sup>41</sup> Ageing plays a pivotal role in risk as well. As with any cancer, as people age, telomeres shorten, and cells can begin to not reproduce normally. This leads to an increased risk and mortality associated with age.<sup>3,45</sup> Hormones and age at menstruation and menopause also play a key role in breast cancer risk. Earlier onset of menstrual periods and later onset of menopause expose women to hormones for longer periods of time, and thus increase breast cancer risk. A worldwide study found that for every one delayed year of menopause, breast cancer risk significantly increased by a factor of 1.03.<sup>46</sup> The age of first birth can also impact the risk of breast cancer, having children earlier and having more children reduce the risk of breast cancer.<sup>47</sup> Pregnancy can induce a change in hormones which lead to lower levels of bioavailable estradiol, a hormone which increase the risk of postmenopausal breast cancer.<sup>48</sup>

Despite many non-modifiable risks, up to 50% of breast cancers are preventable, and are due primarily to environmental and behavioural factors.<sup>6</sup> Some of these modifiable factors include alcohol consumption, night-shift work, obesity, physical inactivity, as well as urban environmental factors. Alcohol consumption has been consistently found to be associated with breast cancer risk. A large prospective cohort found that moderate levels of weekly alcohol consumption was associated with a statistically significant increase in risk.<sup>49</sup> The study also found binge drinking to be associated with increased risk. Earlier and later adult life drinking were found be associated independently. Obesity and PA can also influence breast cancer development; in fact, they not only increase the risk of breast cancer, but can also increase the risk of relative mortality.<sup>22,50</sup> Socio-economic deprivation is associated with a decreased risk of breast cancer.<sup>51</sup> Deprivation is the lack of social or material necessities in a society. It has been shown in many studies that breast cancer

rates are lower in areas that are more socio-economically deprived.<sup>51,52</sup> These associations between deprivation and breast cancer risk can be partly explained by the distribution of causal risk factors which vary between socio-economic statuses (SES), such as age at first birth and parity.<sup>53,54</sup> It has been found that women in more deprived neighbourhoods tend to have more children than those in less deprived ones. However, deprivation can also account for the confounding effect of community level SES, where SES is associated with both cancer and the features of the built environment.<sup>55–57</sup>

## 2.2 Measure of the built environment

Characteristics of the built environment can influence health risks, and in particular, breast cancer risk.<sup>58,59</sup> Some of these key characteristics of the built environment that may impact cancer risk include TRAP, urban walkability and residential greenness.

Over the past decades, increased urbanization and industrialization have released enormous amounts of hazardous chemicals into the atmosphere. Many of these pollutants are released by the combustion of fossil fuels in the form of carbon monoxide and dioxide, sulfur dioxide and nitrogen dioxide.<sup>60</sup> Unfortunately, many of these pollutants can cause serious health problems. The International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC) has classified air pollution as a Group 1 carcinogen.<sup>61</sup> Group 1 indicates that there is significant evidence that the exposure is carcinogenic to humans.<sup>62</sup> In urban areas, vehicular emissions are the largest source of air pollution.<sup>16</sup> TRAP is a combination of toxic gases, including NO<sub>2</sub>, carbon monoxide (CO), and volatile organic compounds, as well and fine particulate matter (PM). Many of these compounds, like carbonyls, metals, PM, volatile organic compounds and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) have

carcinogenic potential.<sup>61</sup> However, unlike other pollutants created by vehicles, NO<sub>2</sub> itself is not thought to be a carcinogen.<sup>64,65</sup> Despite this, fossil fuel combustion is the main cause of NO<sub>2</sub> release and variability in urban environments, making it a good marker for air pollution levels, and a proxy for other carcinogens like PAHs.<sup>64–66</sup> Because NO<sub>2</sub> is a good surrogate measure of TRAP, it is often used in many studies to assess TRAP exposure,<sup>66</sup> as it was in our study. Different metrics of TRAP can be proximity to major roads, traffic volume and density, vehicle exhaust emission density and pollution concentrations.<sup>67</sup> Pollution exposure and density estimates is often measured by collection samples as well as land use regression (LUR), dispersion, geostatistical and hybrid models.<sup>11,59,67</sup> Particulate matter is classified based on its diameter.<sup>66</sup> PM<sub>10</sub> includes inhalable particles with a diameter that are smaller than 10 μm, PM<sub>2.5</sub> are inhalable particles less than 2 μm, finally ultrafine particles (UFPs) are any inhalable particle with a diameter less than 0.01 μm. Nitrogen dioxide and other gasses are often measured in parts per billion (ppb).

These pollution measures are generally provided for a given area or neighbourhood. However, the effect of pollution for a particular individual is dependent on a variety of factors. These include the amount of time spent outdoors, travel within a city, building and vehicle air exchange rates as well as breathing rates.<sup>67</sup> Unfortunately, it can be very difficult and expensive to collect individual exposure data cannot be collected due to high costs.

The built and natural environment also includes walkability and residential greenness. A community's walkability refers to the extent that the environment can influence the likelihood of walking as a mode of transport. Urban walkability can be measured by creating a walkability index using Geographic Information Systems (GIS). These indices use several components to assess

walkability, including residential density, street connectivity, land use mix as well as the retail floor space/area ratio.<sup>68–70</sup> Land use mix describes the degree to which functionally complementary activities (e.g. live, work, play) are co-located together. Land uses comprise a range of activities including residential, commercial, recreational, retail, institutional, industrial, etc.<sup>71,72</sup> Connectivity describes how well streets and neighbourhoods allow direct and efficient movement from one area to the next.

Urban green space typically refers to the presence of recreational open space, whereas greenness can refer to other forms of "green infrastructure" often centered on tree canopy. Green spaces can include features of the urban environment, such as parks, nature areas, roadside vegetation, roof gardens, and front and back yards.<sup>73</sup> There are many ways to measure urban green space, including numbers of parks, distance to parks. A common method to measure greenness is to use satellite images to distinguish different green space types and then calculate the number, the area, or the normalized difference vegetation index (NDVI) of urban greenness linked to participants' residential address.<sup>73</sup> The NDVI (used in this study as the indicator of greenness) is based on satellite measurement of the radiation reflected from the Earth's surface.<sup>74</sup> Through this, different features of the reflected spectra can be used to designate green spaces.

## 2.3 Built environment as risk factors for breast cancer – A scoping review

### 2.3.1 Scoping review outline and methodology

A scoping review was conducted on the impact of the built environment, specifically TRAP, walkability and green space, on breast cancer risk. A search of medical and public health databases, MEDLINE, EMBASE, PubMed and Google Scholar, was conducted. To review the effects of air

pollution three search terms, "breast cancer", "post-menopausal" and "air pollution" were used in the databases' search engines using the "AND" function. Likewise, the terms "breast cancer", "post-menopausal", "urban environment", "walkability", "physical activity" and "obesity" were used to search for these other environmental factors using "AND" and "OR" functions. In some search engines, walkability was not used as a search term as it was not an identified search term. Medical Subject Heading (MeSH) terms and the explode function were used to include associated keywords and subtopics, when available. Title and abstract reviews were conducted on studies which appeared relevant. Studies were included based on the criteria provided in the PECO (population, exposure, comparison, outcome) presented in Table 2. This review only considered traffic-related air pollutants; however, "traffic" was not added as a search term as the search results became too restrictive. Non traffic-related air pollutants were excluded at the PECO step under exposure. Since there was prior knowledge that the literature on the relationship between walkability and green space on cancer risk was limited, breast cancer mortality was also considered if no publications were found. In this case, the keyword "mortality" was added to the search. All study designs were included and there was no cut-off date use for inclusion. The search was conducted in May 2020 and was re-run in January 2021 to capture any new publications.

#### Table 2: PECO study inclusion criteria

PECO	Criteria
Population	Post-menopausal women
Exposure	<ol> <li>Air pollution (concentrations of NO<sub>2</sub> or NO<sub>x</sub>)</li> <li>Walkability</li> <li>Green space / greenness</li> </ol>
Comparison	Not applicable
Outcome	Breast cancer*

Abbreviation: NO<sub>2</sub>: Nitrogen dioxide; NO<sub>X</sub>: Nitrous oxides

\*In the case of no publications found for a particular aspect of the built environment, studies on breast cancer mortality may also be included.

#### 2.3.2 Scoping review results

After review, 34 studies were selected according to the PECO criteria listed above. The included studies were broken down into study design and topic in the PRISMA diagram below (Figure 1). All studies were published after the year 2000, with 61% of them being published since 2015. The majority of the studies concerned TRAP. Some studies covered multiple topics. There were 14 cohorts, 9 case-controls, 8 reviews/meta-analyses and 3 cross-sectional studies. Of the 26 observational studies, 10 were conducted in the US, 7 in Canada, 5 in Europe and 2 in Asia. Of the air pollution studies, 15 studies reported on NO<sub>2</sub>/NO<sub>x</sub> exposure, 5 reported on particulate matter and 2 reported on ultrafine particles. Of the 17 studies which reported on air pollution, all but three found evidence to support that TRAP increases the risk of breast cancer in post-menopausal women. However, not all results were statistically significant, and many publications suggest the need for further research in the subject area, particularly in better measures of exposure and early life measures,<sup>66</sup> something our study was able to capture.

For walkability and green space, there was very limited research available. One study assessed urban walkability on breast cancer mortality and found that increased walkability was significantly associated with reduced breast cancer mortality.<sup>19</sup> Another study found that increased access to green space significantly reduced breast cancer risk.<sup>18</sup>



Figure 1: PRISMA diagram of publications in scoping review

#### Abbreviation: PA: physical activity

**Note**: Numbers of studies from each database was not recorded due to multiple overlapping studies. This PRISMA diagram only includes publications used in review, it does not include those used in introduction or discussion.

## 2.3.2.1 Traffic-related air pollution

TRAP has been studied in depth as a risk factor for lung cancer, but less so for breast cancer in post-menopausal women. Specific compounds formed by TRAP, PAHs, metals and benzene, can act as endocrine-disrupters and carcinogens.<sup>66</sup> PAHs are formed as a result of incomplete combustion of organic matter, like that of fossil fuel. Studies have shown these PAHs to be particularly important in breast cancer research as they have the capacity to bind to deoxyribose nucleic acids (DNA) to form DNA adducts (segment of DNA bound to a cancer causing chemical)

in breast tissue.<sup>61,66</sup> In addition to this, PAHs have been shown to induce breast tumour.<sup>61,75</sup> Both PAHs and metals produced in motor-vehicle combustion have been shown to have estrogenic properties, as well as produce oxidative stress, a key contributor to tumour formation.<sup>66,76,77</sup> Particulate matter, composed of small airborne particles as well as metals and hydrocarbons, has also been shown to be involved in carcinogenesis.<sup>66,78,79</sup>

Urban areas with increased motor vehicle pollution, such as NO<sub>2</sub>, have been linked to increased risk of breast cancer.<sup>11,13–16</sup> Many observational studies have analyzed the association between TRAP and breast cancer incidence in post-menopausal women.<sup>11,13–16</sup> Most studies found evidence to support that TRAP increases the risk of breast cancer in post-menopausal women. However, not all results were statistically significant, and most publications suggested the need for further research in the subject area. Most studies used NO<sub>2</sub> to measure air pollution.<sup>11,13–16</sup> Two Canadian case-control studies demonstrated positive associations between NO<sub>2</sub> and breast cancer incidence.<sup>11,16</sup> In these case-control studies, Hystad et al. found an associated odds ratio (OR) of 1.10 per 10 parts per billion (ppb) increase in NO<sub>2</sub> in post-menopausal women. Crouse et al. concluded that for each increase of 5 ppb of NO<sub>2</sub>, the adjusted OR was 1.31. A large multinational European cohort study assessed breast cancer in relation to multiple air pollution markers, including NO<sub>2</sub>, NO<sub>x</sub> and different measures of particulate matter.<sup>59</sup> This study, called ESCAPE, pooled results from pooled results from nine prospective European cohorts. The study found positive associations between most pollution measures and breast cancer incidence, however, only the association with NO<sub>x</sub> was statistically significant. The large US based Sister's Study cohort looked at air pollution investigated the association between air pollution and breast cancer.<sup>15</sup> This

study did not find a significant increase in over breast cancer risk. The study did however find an increased risk for ER+/PR+ breast cancer in association with increased NO<sub>2</sub>.

Particulate matter has also been studied in relation to breast cancer risk. A case-control study by Bonner et al. found that PM (total suspended particulate) was associated with a two-fold increase in the odds of breast cancer among post-menopausal women.<sup>80</sup> This study noted that there was not a significant association in pre-menopausal women. The Sister's Study did not measure a significant association between PM and breast cancer.<sup>15</sup> The same was found for the Nurse's Study II cohort, although the study suggested that proximity to major roads may be positively associated with increased risk.<sup>81</sup> The ESCAPE study determined that PM<sub>2.5</sub>, PM<sub>10</sub>, and PM<sub>coarse</sub> (PM with diameter between 2.5 and 10 µm) were associated with elevated post-menopausal breast cancer risk.

In summary, the findings from the literature on air pollution and breast cancer vary. Most significant positive associations have been found between  $NO_2$  and  $NO_x$  than PM. More research into the effects using longitudinal cohort evidence may therefore be beneficial.

### 2.3.2.2 Walkability and green space

Research into the direct association between breast cancer incidence in post-menopausal women and urban green space and walkability is very limited. No study was found on walkability and breast cancer risk; however, an Iranian study by Ghatar et al., <sup>19</sup> was found which investigated walkability and breast cancer mortality. Although the study was not specific to breast cancer risk, it was the only study investigating both breast cancer and walkability, it was therefore retained in this scoping review. Ghatar analysed the relationship between urban walkability, car ownership and breast cancer deaths.<sup>19</sup> Interestingly, lower walkability was associated with higher rates of breast cancer mortality; while higher walkability was associated with lower rates of breast cancer mortality. Unfortunately, the entirety of this article was not in English, and therefore, only the abstract was reviewed.

Only one study was found assessing the effect of green space on breast cancer risk. A Spanish case-control study investigated the association between the residential proximity to green spaces and breast cancer risk.<sup>18</sup> The study indicated that the presence of urban green space (green space within 300m) was significantly associated with decreased breast cancer risk. The study had an estimated OR of 0.65 (95% CI = 0.49, 0.86) when adjusting for age, SES (at individual and area level), education and number of children. The study also observed a linear trend between the distance to urban green space and overall risk. This association accounted for multiple confounders and was not mediated by PA or levels of air pollution. The study noted the opposite effect in agricultural areas – the presence of green space was associated with an increased risk (OR = 1.33, 95% CI = 1.07, 1.65). Finally, the authors indicate that increased surrounding greenness (NDVI) to be associated with increased breast cancer risk (OR = 1.20, 95% CI = 1.07, 1.34).

Further research into the roles green space and walkability play on breast cancer risk is needed as there is a large gap in the literature. Longitudinal cohort analysis would allow relationship to be studied more in depth and provide a measure of temporality.

#### 2.3.3 Scoping review conclusions

The scoping review uncovered multiple studies on the impact that TRAP, specifically NO<sub>2</sub>, plays on breast cancer risk in women. The majority of studies found that increasing air pollution was associated with increasing breast cancer risk, although not all associations were statistically significant. Many studies presented the need for further research in the field. Only one study was found that linked walkability to breast cancer mortality and one that linked green space with breast cancer risk. For green space, the study found that an increase in green space was significantly associated with reduced breast cancer risk. The sole study for walkability observed that increased walkability was significantly associated with breast cancer mortality. Despite this limited research, a large body of evidence does link walkability and green space with physical activity and obesity which are known predictors of breast cancer.<sup>82–85</sup> That body of evidence and the few studies directly connecting with breast cancer risk with walkability and greenspace demonstrate a need for more research.

2.4 Obesity and PA: the indirect link between the built environment and breast cancer The indirect link between the built environment and breast cancer, mediated through obesity and PA, was beyond the objective of the scoping review, however, this is an important element to consider.

Despite limited research in measuring the direct association of walkability and greenness with breast cancer risk, there has been more extensive research of the indirect association – through mediation by obesity and PA. Obesity and PA both are important risk factors for breast cancer, especially in post-menopausal women.<sup>86–89</sup> Most of the research documenting direct links between

walkability and green space and physical activity and obesity has been done in North America, Europe and Australia. An Australian study investigated the relationship between neighbourhood walkability and the walking behaviour of individuals residing in that neighbourhood.<sup>90</sup> The study controlled for covariates of SES, age, sex and gender. The investigators found strong positive associations between objectively assessed walkability of a neighbourhood and the amount of weekly walking by individuals. Recent findings indicate that cities with increased walkability, including distance walked, are associated with a decreased level of obesity.<sup>20</sup> Frank et al. found that the increase in mixed land use and daily distance walked was associated with a decrease in body mass index (BMI).<sup>91</sup> This same study found that each additional hour spent in a car was associated with a 6% increase and each additional hour spent walking a 5% reduction in obesity. Time spent in cars and walking was shown to be strongly related with walkability. An observational study compared neighbourhoods with high-walkability to those with lowwalkability in San Diego.<sup>84</sup> The study concluded that residents in highly-walkable neighbourhood residents reported spending more time walking for errands or during school or work breaks. Residents of less-walkable areas had higher BMIs and greater rates of obesity than those residents in areas of high walkability. The presence of neighbourhood green spaces has been shown to significantly increase the amount of PA. Studies have shown that areas with more parks, outdoor recreational resources and better natural and environmental amenities have decreased BMI.<sup>92</sup>

The City of Vancouver has been working to support active transportation, forms of transportation that do not rely on an engine or motor. A study of the recently built Comox Corridor Greenway in downtown Vancouver (where planners reallocated road space to space for biking and walking) found that those living within 300 metres of the greenway were twice as likely to meet recommended activity levels than those living further away.<sup>93</sup> Another recent study of Metro Vancouver, known as "Where Matters", compared obesity rates across levels of walkability and access to greenspace. This study employed a cross-sectional application of baseline data from BCGP. Results showed that those living in the walkable areas had a 43% less likelihood of being obese compared to those living in car dependent neighbourhoods and residents living with the maximum park access were also 43% less likely to have obesity compared to exurb resident counterparts.<sup>94</sup>

## Chapter 3: Methods

### 3.1 Study design

In order to assess the breast cancer risk associated with three characteristics of the built environment, a prospective cohort analysis was used. This study used the BCGP, a prospective cohort which has been linked to CANUE urban environment data. This research took advantage of BCGP's longitudinal design, which enables the identification of individuals who develop breast cancer and other chronic diseases after enrollment (i.e., incident cases). Cox proportional hazards regression was used to assess time to event (breast cancer) in relation to urban environmental markers. Environmental markers – TRAP, walkability and greenness – were analysed for the study participants (cases and non-cases) to determine the role they play in breast cancer risk in BC Lower Mainland.

#### 3.2 Study Population

#### 3.2.1 Sources of data

#### 3.2.1.1 British Columbia Generations Project

BCGP is BC's largest population health longitudinal cohort and is a regional cohort of the Canadian Partnership for Tomorrow's Health (CanPath, formerly CPTP), the Pan-Canadian prospective chronic disease cohort.<sup>8</sup> BCGP includes nearly 30,000 British Columbians aged 35-69 years. Initial data was collected from 2009-2016 using a health and lifestyle core questionnaire (HLQ).<sup>95,96</sup> BCGP participants completed one of two Health and Lifestyle questionnaires. Participants who enrolled from May 2009 to May 2010 completed the first version of the health and lifestyle questionnaire and medical history questionnaire, while participants who enrolled from

June 2010 to August 2016 completed the second version the questionnaire. BCGP collected baseline data on all participants on health, behaviour and lifestyle, residential history, occupation, diet and PA. The questionnaires collected a wide range of behavioural, socio-demographic, and health-related variables including age, marital status, education, employment status, annual household income, family health history and body measurements (height, weight, waist and hip circumferences). The majority of participants also provided baseline bio-samples (blood and urine) and other physical measures; however, these were not used in this study. Personal health history and past medical conditions were recorded. The international physical activity questionnaire short form (IPAQ-SF) was also used to collect PA data.<sup>97</sup> BCGP also collected information on lifestyle variables including tobacco use and exposure to second-hand smoke, alcohol use and physical activity and daily servings of fruits and vegetables. The follow-up of participants is ongoing through active recortact for additional questionnaire information. All participants also consented to passive follow-up via linkage to administrative health datasets, including the BC Cancer registry which was used to identify incident cancer diagnoses in this study.

#### 3.2.1.2 CANUE

BCGP participants have been linked to the Canadian Urban Environmental Health Research Consortium (CANUE) datasets. CANUE is Canada's environmental data consortium which collects data on the built environment. The consortium generates geospatial environmental data, including information on air quality, pollution, weather and climate, greenspace and built environment characteristics such as walkability and deprivation.<sup>98</sup> CANUE data were linked to BCGP participants using two methods: (i) individual postal code level, based on the address at enrolment to BCGP, and (ii) historical individual postal codes to provide information on changes
over time. This linkage was done by Statistics Canada, which linked historic postal codes to CANUE datasets.

This project used three datasets from the CANUE database to characterize the built environment, relating to features that were hypothesized to be associated with breast cancer risk: 1. TRAP (NO<sub>2</sub>); 2. Canadian Active Living Environments Index (CAN-ALE – an indicator of neighbourhood walkability); and 3. NDVI Landsat data (an indicator of greenness). These variables were chosen because they are generally representative of the built environment and they have been linked to different cancer and risk factors for breast cancer, such as obesity and physical activity.<sup>66,91,99</sup>

# 3.2.2 Setting of study: The Lower Mainland of BC

BC is the third most populous province, located on the west coast of Canada. The province is comprised of roughly five million residents, the majority of whom are of white European descent and between the ages of 15 and 64.<sup>100</sup>

The Lower Mainland is a region in BC which is located in the southwest corner of the province and is home to more than 60% of its residents. The Lower Mainland includes the City of Vancouver and the surrounding suburbs (Richmond, Burnaby, North and West Vancouver etc.), the northern coastal regions (Squamish, Lillooet, Whistler, etc.) as well as the Fraser Valley (Abbotsford, Chilliwack, Langley, Hope, etc.). In BC, of the 192 30-digit forward sortation area (FSA) postal codes, there are 108 of which fall in the Lower Mainland region. A map of the Lower Mainland region is presented in Figure 2, and is composed of the east-west region of Hope to Vancouver and north-south of Whistler to the Canadian-American border.



Figure 2: Map of Lower Mainland

Source: Apple Maps<sup>101</sup>

As of the 2016 Census, the Lower Mainland has a population of roughly 2.8 million. The majority of the population of the Lower Mainland is of white European descent (51.5%) followed by Asian descent (39.4%).<sup>100,102,103</sup>

Table 3:	Ethnic	makeup	of the	Lower	Mainland
		·····			

Ethnicity	Population	Percent of total
European	1,397,280	51.5%
East Asian	564,445	20.8%
South Asian	330,925	12.2%
Southeast Asian	173,060	6.4%
Aboriginal/First Nations	98,565	3.6%
Middle Eastern	63,300	2.3%
Latin American	36,855	1.4%
Black	32,325	1.2%
Other	43,295	1.6%
Total Population	2,715,000	100.0%

Source: Statistics Canada<sup>100,102,103</sup>

# 3.2.3 Inclusion and exclusion criteria

This study population included all women from the BCGP who were post-menopausal at enrollment or became post-menopausal during the follow-up period. Participants were recruited between 2009 and March 31, 2016. Breast cancer diagnosis was the primary outcome and was analysed across measures of the built environment. Cases were all women who developed post-menopausal breast cancers diagnosed since baseline recruitment who had completed the BCGP baseline questionnaire. A flow-chart of the results of the inclusion/exclusion process is outlined in Section 4.1.

The first exclusion criterion was whether participants resided in the Lower Mainland upon study entry. This area was selected to have comparable estimates of the built environmental variables, air pollution, walkability and greenness. This limited the study population to living in a more urban environment as opposed to rural, where air pollution, walkability and greenness can all be more easily measured and compared. Determination of area residence was be done by cross-referencing the participant 3-digit FSA code to a list of FSA's in the Lower Mainland (see Table A1 in the Appendix). All participants who had an FSA at study entry listed outside of the Lower Mainland region were excluded from the study population.

Next, women with prevalent cancer diagnoses were excluded. It was important to exclude prevalent cancers because they can increase the risk for breast cancer.<sup>104-107</sup> Ricceri et al. have shown that women with a diagnosis of breast cancer have a 30% excess risk for secondary malignancies.<sup>107</sup> Treatment for prevalent cancers, like chemotherapy and radiation therapy have also been shown to increase the risk of secondary cancers.<sup>108</sup> By eliminating participants who had prevalent cancer diagnoses before study entry, the analysis was able to better identify risks related to aspects of the built environment, without the potential impact of factors related to the cancer treatment. Cancer history information was taken from the linked BC Cancer registry as well as the survey questionnaire. All individuals who had a prevalent cancer diagnosis before entering the study were excluded. This included all types of cancers, including prevalent breast cancer. Skin cancers, however, were not removed from the study because they are the most common cancers, and many such tumours can be benign.<sup>109</sup> Skin cancer is also mostly treated with surgery, therefore patients do not have the added risk of risk of primary breast cancer caused by chemotherapy or radiation treatment.<sup>110</sup>

Any participant who was not post-menopausal at some point in the study was excluded. Many occupational and environmental exposures have a higher risk in pre-menopausal women, however,

these tumours are rarer and often have specific aetiologies.<sup>111</sup> Post-menopausal women have many years of environmental exposures and therefore the built environment may have a larger impact. Post-menopausal breast cancers are also different from pre-menopausal ones as women have had exposure to different hormones throughout their lifetime.<sup>10</sup> Post-menopausal status was determined by self-identification in the questionnaire. The BCGP baseline questionnaire defined post-menopausal status as whether an individual's menstrual periods stopped for at least one year and did not restart (see Section 3.5.2.3 for more information). If the question was not answered, then the age at study entry was used. If the participant was 55 years or older, they were considered post-menopausal. The age of 55 is commonly used in studies for post-menopausal age if not otherwise indicated.<sup>112</sup> If the participant had indicated they were not post-menopausal and were over the age of 55 at study entry, then the age of 60 was used. Finally, if the participant was over 60, they were considered post-menopausal regardless of questionnaire. All person-years for participants who indicated they were post-menopausal women were included. Since the cohort followed participants over time, some women may have entered the study pre-menopausal but became menopausal during the follow up period. In that scenario, once the participant turned the age of 55 (or 60 years of age in the scenarios described above), person-years started to be accumulated towards the study. Women who were not post-menopausal at any point in the study were excluded.

Incident breast cancer diagnoses were identified through the BC Cancer Registry. Cases were defined as individuals diagnoses with all types of incident breast cancers, including those in situ as well as invasive cancers. Conversely, non-cases were defined as post-menopausal women who did not experience an incident breast cancer diagnosis. All participants with less than one year of

follow-up post study enrolment were excluded. For cases, this meant incident breast cancers diagnosed within one year of the study enrollment were excluded.

#### 3.3 Data and variable cleaning

Data cleaning was done in R and Excel.<sup>113,114</sup> Categorical variables were grouped to created new variables for analytic purposes. In certain cases, continuous variables were converted into quintiles, categorical or binary variables. All entries which were coded as -9999, NA or blank were coded as NA.

# 3.4 Missing data

An analysis of missing data was done for each variable used in the models. Missing variable counts were provided along with the percent of total. For modeling purposes, complete case analysis was used.

# 3.5 Descriptive characteristics and bivariate analysis

An overall descriptive analysis of the study sample (including demographic, behavioural, social and health indicators) in relation to the environmental data (air pollution, walkability and greenness) was conducted for breast cancer cases as well as non-cases.

Descriptive statistics for categorical variables used counts and percentages and continuous variables were presented as means with standard deviations. Chi-square, t-tests and ANOVA tests were used to assess statistical differences between breast cancer cases and non-cases. An alpha of 0.05 was used to assess statistical significance. If data for certain variables did not appear to be

normal or did not meet specific criteria for the given parametric test, non-parametric tests were used. Visual statistics were also be provided in the form of boxplots plots and histograms, as well as in table format. Statistical analyses were also done to determine if built environment variables differed by these same key covariates using the same variables described above. Spearman correlations were also presented between all measures of the built environment to understand the relationship between these measures.

# 3.5.1 Study variables

Study variables are listed in Table 4. Each variable has multiple associated variables (e.g., categorical, binary, continuous). All of the following variables were considered for model building, the variable choice for modeling purposes will be describe in Section 3.6.2.

Table 4: Study	variables
----------------	-----------

Built environment variables	Other variables
Greenness (NDVI)	Age
Baseline	Alcohol consumption
Average 1982-2016	BMI
Traffic-related air pollution (NO <sub>2</sub> in ppb)	Contraceptive use
Baseline	Education
Average 1980-2012	Ethnicity
Walkability	Fruit consumption
	Income
	Material deprivation
	Maternal breast cancer history
	Parity
	Physical activity
	Smoking
	Social deprivation
	Vegetable consumption

Abbreviations: BMI: body mass index; NDVI: normalized difference vegetation index; NO<sub>2</sub>: nitrogen dioxide; ppb: parts per billion

A description of each variable is presented in the following sections. Descriptions of each variable were taken from BCGP and CANUE datasets.<sup>8,9</sup>

#### 3.5.2 Participant health and personal baseline characteristics

#### *3.5.2.1* Anthropometric measurements

Basic anthropometric include height measured in centimetres (feet and inches or cm), weight measured in kilograms (lbs or kg). Height was measured by standing with no shoes with back up against a wall while looking straight ahead. Weight was measured with using no or light clothing, ensuring the scale being properly zeroed. Waist and hip measurements were also taken and are used to determine certain obesity parameters. These were done in front of a mirror and were done by wrapping a measuring tool around the body so it cannot slide, but not tight enough that it indents the skin. The waist was found by placing thumb under the armpit and sliding down until reaching the hip bone. The hip was located by looking at one's profile and finding the largest point of the buttock. All anthropometric measurements were completed twice to ensure reliability. When BMI was not provided, weight and height were used to calculate the BMI (as described in Section 3.5.2.4).

#### 3.5.2.2 Ethnicity

Ethnicity was determined by self-report. Participants were able to select all ethnicities that applied: Aboriginal, Arab, Black, East Asian, Jewish, Latin America/Hispanic, South Asian, Southeast Asian West Asian, White and other. From the listed ethnicities, a binary and a categorical variable was created. Since it was known that most of the participants were of white ethnicity, a binary variable was created to represent those of white ethnicity and others. The reference category for modeling was white.

# 3.5.2.3 Women's health

Female health variables include number of births, contraceptive use and menopausal status. The number of births was recorded as a numerical variable and the contraceptive use was recorded as a binary variable (never and ever).

Menopausal status was defined as whether an individual's menstrual periods stopped for at least one year and did not restart. Participants were asked if they had gone through menopause and were able to indicate one of the following four answers:

- 1. Yes, natural menopause
- 2. Yes, other reasons (surgery, chemotherapy, medication)
- 3. No
- 4. Don't know

If the participant did not answer the menopausal status question in the survey, or they did not know, then an age cut off of 55 years was used to determine menopausal status (refer to Section 3.2.3 for more information).

#### 3.5.2.4 Obesity

Obesity was measured using BMI, calculated by body weight (kg)/height (m)<sup>2</sup>. BMI was selfreported by some participants and was measured and calculated directly for others. The following categorizations was used: BMI  $\leq$ 18.5 as underweight, 18.5 to 25kg/m<sup>2</sup> as healthy weight, 25 to 30 as overweight,  $BMI \ge 30$  as obese.<sup>115</sup> The BMI variable was used as a continuous and categorical variable (underweight was used as the reference category). When measured BMI was unavailable, it was provided from self-report in the questionnaire.

# 3.5.2.5 Physical activity

Physical activity was assessed using the International Physical Activity Questionnaire (IPAQ short form). For evaluation of total physical activity, separate metabolic equivalent (MET) minutes per week (1 MET is defined as metabolic expenditure at rest) was calculated for moderate- and vigorous-intensive activities and walking activity according to the IPAQ scoring protocol.<sup>116</sup> The World Health Organization (WHO) recommends an equivalent of 6000 MET-minutes of moderate- and vigorous-intensity physical activity per week.<sup>117</sup> This cut-off was used as a binary variable to determine whether the participant met this recommendation of weekly PA (not meeting the recommendation was the reference category).

#### 3.5.2.6 Smoking

Cigarette smoking and tobacco use was sub-divided into three categories: never-smoker, occasional smoker/past smoker and daily smoker. Never-smokers include individuals who had never smoked or smoked less than 100 cigarettes, and a past smoker was someone who had smoked more than 100 cigarettes but currently does not smoke. A binary variable was also created, with never-smoker or ever-smoker, using 100 cigarettes as the benchmark for an ever-smoker. Never-smoker was the reference category.

#### 3.5.2.7 Alcohol consumption

Participants were asked about if they had ever consumed alcohol. For those that had, participants were then asked on average, how many times a week during the past year did they drink alcohol (categorical variable ranging from once a month to 6-7 times per week), as well as how many drinks they had in the past week (including the type: red wine, white wine, beer, liquor/spirits and other) and if participants drink during a typical weekend. A categorical variable for alcohol consumption was based on the frequency of drinks consumed. The categories were never, less than once per month, less than 1 time per week, 1-3 times per week and 4-7 times per week. A binary variable was also created to represent ever and never-drinkers. The number of drinks was based on the standard drink size of wine or wine cooler (142 mL, 5 ounces), bottle/can of beer (341 mL or 12 ounces) and straight alcohol or mixed drink (43 mL, 1.5 ounces). For both variables, never-drinkers were the reference category.

# 3.5.2.8 Diet

Dietary information was collected by asking questions about what the participant ate during the typical day. This included how many servings (1/2 cup or 125mL) of fruits, vegetables and 100% fruit/vegetable juices consumed during a typical day. The number of servings of fruits and for vegetables was recorded as a numerical variable as well as categorized as 0, 1 to 2, 3 to 4 and 5+ servings per day. Zero servings was used as the reference category for both fruits and vegetables.

#### 3.5.2.9 Socioeconomic status

Socioeconomic status (SES) was recorded by the approximate total household income from all sources before taxes in the previous year. Income was categorised as <\$50,000, \$50,000-\$100,000, \$100,000-\$150,000 and >\$150,000. Less than \$50,000 was used as the reference category.

# 3.5.2.10 Social and material deprivation

Deprivation scores have been developed to characterize communities in relation to material and social deprivation. Deprivation status was provided through CANUE and was linked to the postal code at study entry. Scores were measured for social and material deprivation and were measured by dissemination area number, dissemination area population, codes of each territory (provinces, Canadian regions, Census Metropolitan areas (CMAs), and geographic areas). This study used the regions variable. The variables were presented as quintiles, where is 1 was the least deprived and 5 was the most, with the lowest quintile being the reference category.

# 3.5.2.11 Education status

Education status was measured as a categorical variable. Individuals were grouped into the following five categories based on the highest level of education completed: not completed high school, high school, trade/ technical or vocation school, community college diploma, University certificate below Bachelor's degree level, Bachelor's degree, Graduate degree or none. The age of completion of the highest of education was collected. These categories were used to create a new categorical variable which represented the highest level of education completed. This resulted in

categories of high school or below, diploma/trade and University, where those who completed high school or below were the reference category.

# 3.5.3 The Built environment

#### 3.5.3.1 Traffic-related air pollution

TRAP was measured using concentration of NO<sub>2</sub>. This was measured as the average concentration in parts per billion (ppb) at time of study entry.<sup>118</sup> A variable was also created to represent the average concentration of NO<sub>2</sub> over the period of 1980 to 2012.

#### 3.5.3.2 Walkability

The Canadian Active Living Environments (Can-ALE) Index was used as the indicator of walkability.<sup>98</sup> The Can-ALE dataset provides a set of Geographic Information Systems (GIS) measures of walkability. The ALE Index is the sum of the z-scores for each Can-ALE measure available throughout Canada for that census year. This includes intersection density and dwelling density for 2006 and intersection density, dwelling density, and points of interest for 2016. Walkability scores were measured in 2006 and 2016 and were extrapolated for the subsequent years. These two scales were not translatable, as they used different measurement and scoring system.

The 2006 scale was chosen because it was an earlier time period and a representation of long-term exposure to measure the latency of breast cancer. The summed z-scores therefore indicates the distribution of the Can-ALE measure values for each dissemination area (DA) relative to all DAs in Canada. This means that a negative Can-ALE index scores indicate below average ALE

measures and positive ALE index scores indicate above average Can-ALE measures. A z-score near zero indicates that the DA is near the Canadian average for the quality of the active living environment. The Can-ALE was also divided into quintiles to produce a categorical variable. This quintile variable was specific to the Lower Mainland, as opposed to the z-score, which was generated for Canada as a whole. Quintile 1 represented the least walkable areas and quintile 5 represented the most walkable. Quintile 1 was used as the reference category. This quintile variable was also converted to a trend variable for multivariable regression analysis. The Can-ALE score was taken for the participant at their residence at study enrolment.

#### 3.5.3.3 Residential greenness

Greenness was measured by the Normalized Difference Vegetation Index (NDVI). CANUE has compiled a complete set of NDVI data covering all of Canada since 1980. In this study greenness was measured as the annual mean NDVI by postal code FSA. The NDVI is calculated by the difference between the near infrared wavelength (NIR) reflectance and the red wavelength reflectance (RED) and dividing this value by the sum of these two intensities.

Equation 1: Normalized Difference Vegetation Index

$$NDVI = \frac{NIR - RED}{NIR + RED}$$

Abbreviations: NIR: Near infrared wavelength; NDVI: normalized difference vegetation index; RED: red wavelength

NDVI is a measure of vegetation health. Chlorophyll is a health indicator, and strongly absorbs visible light.<sup>119</sup> Because of this, healthier and dense vegetation will result in a higher NDVI score. The NDVI results in a value between -1.0 and +1.0, where -1.0 indicates the presence of no

vegetation and 1.0 indicates dense health vegetation. The greenness variable was also converted into tertile categorical variable for analysis as NDVI can vary from slightly year to year due to rainfall and other conditions. Tertiles was chosen as it was used in other greenness health-related studies.<sup>120</sup> Tertile 1 was used as the reference category. Creating tertiles minimized the effect of yearly differences. The NDVI score was taken for the participant at their residence at study enrolment and a variable for the longitudinal average was calculated between the years of 1982 to 2016.

# 3.6 Multivariable analysis

This study used multivariable Cox proportional hazards (PH) modelling. Separate Cox PH regression models were made for each of the following built environment variables: TRAP (baseline NO<sub>2</sub> and average NO<sub>2</sub> over the period of 1980 - 2012), walkability (ALE-index) and greenness (baseline NDVI and average NDVI over the period of 1982 - 2016). Models were created for each built environment variable. Fully adjusted models included all variables presented in the section above, while final models were constructed for each built environment variable. Final models were determined using the change-in-estimate model building process presented in Section 3.6.2. Hazard ratios (HRs), 95% confidence intervals (CIs), p-values (p), concordance and Schoenfeld's test (see Section 3.6.2) were provided for each model. Test for trend p-values were calculated for categorical quintile variables for the built environment – walkability and greenness. This was done by converting the quintile factors to a numeric variable (low quintile = 1, lower-middle quintile = 2, middle = 3, upper-middle = 4, and high quintile = 5).

#### 3.6.1 Cox proportional hazards regression

Cox PH is a regression modeling technique often used in survival analysis as it factors in persontime into the model. The outcome variable was breast cancer, and the explanatory variables were the three environmental factors. The outcome variable was either a breast cancer diagnosis (coded as 1) or a breast cancer-free at the date of last follow-up (August 1<sup>st</sup>, 2019) or censoring (coded as a 0). In this study, censoring was defined as death. Data on diagnosis of other incident cancers was not collected, so these participants were not censored. Time was recorded as a continuous numeric variable, measured in years.

Cox PH regression models the relationship multiple predictor variables and a binary outcome variable. In a Cox model, the measure of effect is known as the hazard rate, which is defined as the risk of an event in the next small time interval (incident breast cancer diagnosis), given the participant has survived up to the given time.<sup>121</sup> Therefore, the cumulative hazard is the number of events per unit time. The model takes on the following equation:

#### Equation 2: Cox regression equation

$$h(t, X) = h_o(t) \cdot e^{B_1 x_1 + B_2 x_2 + \dots + B_k x_k}$$

In this equation, X denotes the predictor variables  $x_1, x_2, ..., B_1, B_2, ...$  denote the effect size of the corresponding predictor variable, and h(t,X) denotes the hazard at time t given covariates  $x_1$ ,  $x_2, ...$  The baseline hazard  $h_0(t)$  is the hazard at time t when all the predictor variables are equal to zero. The values  $B_1, B_2, ...$  are estimated by maximum likelihood giving estimates  $b_1, b_2, ...$  as presented in the equation above. Similarly, the baseline hazard is estimated, giving an estimate of h(t,X).

The hazard rate can be thought of as the probability that if the event (breast cancer diagnosis) has not already occurred, that it will occur in the next time interval, divided by the length of that time interval. This time interval is made infinitesimally small, so the hazard rate represents an instantaneous rate.<sup>121</sup> The hazard ratio (HR) for a binary variable is defined by the hazard rate when that variable when equal to 1, divided by the variable when equal to zero with the value of all other variables remaining the same. For a continuous variable, the hazard rate for the same variable 1 unit less, with all the other variables remaining the same. For example, this could represent the change in risk for developing breast cancer for white females compared to "other" females, if white females are coded as "1" and other females are coded as "0". In the context of this study, the interpretation of the hazard ratio is the relative risk of developing breast cancer at any given time between units of the of the predictor variable. For example, it is the relative risk of developing breast cancer if the continuous variable in question, for example age, rises by 1 unit.<sup>122</sup> After estimating the b<sub>1</sub>, b<sub>2</sub>, ..., the hazard ratio of the *i*<sup>th</sup> variable is calculated by exp(b<sub>i</sub>).

Cox regression is a semi-parametric regression, and therefore does not assume a distributional shape for the baseline hazard. The assumptions for a cox model are as follows:

- 1. Non-informative censoring
- 2. The observations are independent
- 3. Hazards are proportional hazard ratio is constant over time

Non-informative censoring occurs when participants drop out of the study for reasons which are unrelated to the study.<sup>123</sup>

#### 3.6.2 Model building approach

For each of the three built environment variables, a similar model building strategy was used. The outcome variable in all three models was post-menopausal breast cancer diagnosis. This was binary variable recorded as either a 1 for breast cancer cases or a 0 for non-cases. The primary explanatory variable was the built environmental variable (TRAP, walkability or greenness). Two models were built for air pollution: one for the baseline NO<sub>2</sub> measurement and one for the average air pollution between the years of 1980 - 2012. Similarly, two models were also made for greenness, one for the baseline NDVI measurement and one for the average NDVI over the years of 1982 – 2016. Both air pollution and greenness were measured as continuous numerical variables. For these continuous variables, the HR indicated the increase in risk for an x-unit increase in air pollution or greenness. Walkability was measured as a quintile categorical variable. A categorical variable was chosen as to provide a more intuitive interpretation of the hazard ratio, as the walkability variable was given as a z-score. The HR for a specific level of the categorical variable indicated the risk compared to the first quintile. Note that in the models, the p-value for categorical variables will be presented as a test for trend p-value. This was done by modeling the categorical variables as trend variables. Next, the walkability categorical variable was be used and the HR for each quintile compared to the first quintile will be reported. This model used the same covariates as determined in the change-in-estimate trend variable modeling procedure.

The change-in-estimate method was used for model building. The aim of this method is to reduce confounding by retaining only the covariates which significantly change the HR. For the change-in-estimate procedure, all relevant potential covariates were determined a priori (Section 3.5.2). These variables were discussed in previous sections and have been found to be related to post-

menopausal breast cancer in other studies.<sup>11,16,41,124</sup> These variables were: age, alcohol, birth, BMI, contraceptives use, education, ethnicity, fruit consumption, income, material deprivation, maternal breast cancer history, PA, smoke, social deprivation, vegetable consumption. All 15 potential covariates listed above were then included in each of the five built environment models to create fully adjusted models. From there, one covariate was individually removed from the fully adjusted model to create 15 new models with 14 covariates each. The HR for the built environment variable was then compared to that of the fully adjusted model. A percent change in HR was calculated for each of the 14 models, and the model which had the smallest (closest to 0) was noted. The removal of this specific covariate was determined to not significantly bias the HR and was removed from the process. This step was repeated with the now 14 potential confounders and again, each variable was removed one at a time – comparing the resulting HR back to the fully adjusted HR through percent change. The final adjusted model was selected once the removal of each remaining variable resulted in a percent change of greater than 5%. A 5% change was chosen to ensure residual bias was small. For numerical built environmental variables (air pollution and greenness), the percent change depends on the definition of the unit increase for the estimation of the HR. For example, using 10-unit increase in ppb for air pollution resulted in larger percent changes than when using a 5-unit increase. For air pollution a 10 ppb increase was used and a 1-unit interquartile range (IQR) for greenness.

Once a final model was chosen, the PH assumption was examined, using the Schoenfeld's test. This test returns a p-value for each variable in the model, as well as a global p-value for the whole model. In the Schoenfeld's test, the null hypothesis is that the PH assumption is met, therefore a p-value less than 0.05 indicates the PH assumption is not met. In this case, a cut-off time-dependent covariate would be added to the models. To determine the cut-off point, a plot of the Schoenfeld residuals against time to give an estimate time estimate of when the PH assumption was not met. If all p-values for the Schoenfeld's test were greater than 0.05, the assumption of proportional hazards was accepted, and the final model was kept. Finally, concordance was measured to produce an estimate of model fit. The concordance is a measure of goodness of fit and is equal to 0.50 when the model is making random guesses for survival.

# 3.7 Statistical software

The core data analysis was conducted using R 3.5.0 (R Core Team, Vienna).<sup>113</sup> This included all modeling, statistical tests, as well as visual statistics. Microsoft Excel was also used to clean data and create plots and figures.<sup>114</sup>

# Chapter 4: Results

# 4.1 Study population

The BCGP has collected data on nearly 30,000 participants.<sup>8</sup> Of this, 69% are female and 21% are male. The age distribution consists of 13.3% of participants being between 35–44 years, 27.1% 45–54 years, 40.5% 55–64 years and 19.1% 65 years or older. There were 83.5% who stated they were of white European descent. The population was mostly well educated, married and either never smoked or a former smoker.

In total there were 20,071 female participants in BCGP. Of these female participants, 11,086 (55.2%) reported living in the Lower Mainland at the time of study enrolment. Of these participants, 1,333 participants had prevalent cancers (excluding skin cancer). This left 9,753 participants with no prior cancer history. Next menopausal status was assessed. Of the remaining participants, 2,111 did not reach menopause during their follow-up and were excluding, leaving 7,642 participants. Finally, those with less than 1-year of follow-up time were also excluded from the study, resulting in a final study population of 7,330 participants, see PRISMA diagram, Figure 3. There were 122 (1.7%) incident breast cancer diagnoses during follow-up time and 7,208 non-cases without a breast cancer diagnosis.



Figure 3: PRISMA diagram of study population

Abbreviations: BC: British Columbia; BCGP: British Columbia Generations Project

# 4.2 Missing data

Counts of missing data and relative percentages of the overall study population are presented in Table 5. The percentage of missing values for each variable of interest was relatively low. The variable with the most missing values was BMI at 14%. The remaining variables all had missing values under 10%. Age, maternal history of breast cancer and ethnicity all had no missing values. *Table 5: Missing values for variables of study* 

Variables		Count of missing values	Percent of total population
Built environment variable	s		
Air pollution (ppb NO <sub>2</sub> )	BL	15	0%
	Average 1980 - 2012	15	0%
Walkability (ALE-index)	BL	489	7%
Greenness (NDVI)	BL	418	6%
	Average 1982 - 2018	7	0%
Other variables			
Age		0	0%
Alcohol consumption		46	1%
Birth		409	6%
BMI		986	14%
Contraceptive use		47	1%
Education		48	1%
Ethnicity		0	0%
Deprivation score	Material	935	13%
	Social	935	13%
Diet	Veg. servings	91	1%
	Fruit servings	85	1%
Income		572	8%
Maternal history of breast ca	ncer	0	0%
PA		541	8%
Smoking		95	1%

Abbreviations: BL: baseline; BMI: body mass index; NDVI: normalized difference vegetation index; NO<sub>2</sub>: nitrogen dioxide; PA: physical activity; ppb: parts per billion; Veg.: vegetable

# 4.3 Descriptive characteristics and bivariable analysis

The final study population consisted of 122 cases and 7,208 non-cases, for a total of 7,330 participants. Overall baseline characteristics are presented in Table 6. The average age at baseline was 58 years, with a SD of 6.3 years. The median follow-up time for non-cases was 7.2 years (min = 1.0, max = 10.4). The population was predominantly white (84%), the majority of the remaining participants were of Asian descent. The average BMI of the study population was 25.7 (SD = 5.3), which is considered to be overweight. Of the participants with a reported BMI, 2% were considered underweight, 45% were healthy weight, 20% were overweight and 30% were obese. Alcohol consumption was common, with only 6% never having consumed alcohol - the majority of participants drank more than 1 alcoholic beverage per week (55%). Cigarette smoking was quite rare, with only 3% of participants being current daily smokers. The average PA per week was measured to be 18.6 MET-minutes per hour, which does not meet the PA guideline outlined in Section 3.5.2.5. The SD for PA was large (15.3) – some participants did not exercise at all whereas others exercised a lot. The study population was well educated, with 41% having a University degree (16% of which had a Graduate degree). Most participants had an annual family income between \$50,000 - \$100,000 (36%), followed by <\$50,000 at 23%. Measures for the built environment, including air pollution, walkability and greenness, will be described in further detail in the following sections.

# Table 6: Baseline participant demographics

		Overall		Case		Non-cases		_
Va	riables	n or mean	% or SD	n or mean	% or SD	n or mean	% or SD	р
Number of partici	pants	7330	100%	122	2%	7208	98%	
Follow-up time (y	vears)	7.4	2.3	4.4	2.1	7.5	0.6	< 0.01
Age at baseline		58.0	6.3	60.6	5.58	58.0	4.82	< 0.01
Alcohol consumption	Never	473	6%	10	8%	463	6%	0.70
	Less than 1 time per week	2419	33%	38	31%	2381	33%	
	More than 1 time per week	4058	55%	71	58%	3987	55%	
	Not reported	380	5%	3	2%	377	5%	
Birth		1.7	1.2	1.6	1.13	1.7	0.16	0.35
BMI		25.7	5.3	25.8	5.43	25.7	2.02	0.88
Contraceptive use	Ever	6436	88%	106	87%	6330	88%	0.61
	Never	847	12%	16	13%	831	12%	
Education	High school or none	0	0%	0	0%	0	0%	0.04
	Trade or Diploma	2772	38%	50	41%	2722	38%	
	Bachelor's Degree	1803	25%	24	20%	1779	25%	
	Graduate Degree	1185	16%	12	10%	1173	16%	
	Not reported	48	1%	1	1%	47	1%	
Ethnicity	White	6180	84%	106	87%	6074	84%	0.51
	Other	1150	16%	16	10%	1134	18%	
Deprivation score	Material	2.2	1.4	2.1	1.40	2.2	0.20	
	Social	2.8	1.6	2.5	1.59	2.8	0.25	
Diet	Fruit servings per day	2.5	1.6	2.6	2.03	2.5	0.24	0.53
	Veg. servings per day	3.3	2.1	3.5	2.65	3.3	0.32	0.30
Income	<\$50,000	1700	23%	33	27%	1667	23%	0.17
	\$50,000 - \$100,000	2605	36%	49	40%	2556	35%	
	\$100,000 - \$150,000	1343	18%	15	12%	1328	18%	
	\$150,000 +	1110	15%	14	11%	1096	15%	
	Not reported	572	8%	11	9%	561	8%	
Maternal breast ca	ancer history	614.0	8%	19.0	16%	595.0	8%	0.01
РА	Total PA in MET- minutes per day	445.94	366.64	483.79	418.37	445.30	45.90	0.33
Smoking	<100 lifetime/ Never	3938	54%	61	50%	3877	54%	0.34

	Overall		Case		Non-cases		
Variables	n or mean	% or SD	n or mean	% or SD	n or mean	% or SD	р
Past smoker	2931	40%	57	47%	2874	40%	
Occasional smoker	99	1%	0	0%	99	1%	
Current daily smoker	256	3%	4	3%	252	3%	
Not reported	106	1%	0	0%	106	1%	

Abbreviations: BMI: body mass index; MET: metabolic equivalent time; p: p-value; PA: physical activity; SD: standard deviation Veg.: vegetable

None of the study variables: alcohol consumption, birth, BMI, contraceptive use, ethnicity, material or social deprivation, fruit or vegetable consupmtion, income, PA and smoking were significantly different between cases and non-cases. Conversely, age, education status and maternal history of breast cancer were significantly different between cases and non-cases values (p = <0.01, 0.04 and 0.01, respectivley). Cases were on average two years older than non-cases (average age = 60.6 and 58.0, respectively). The study population was very well educated, with 41% having a University degree. History of breast cancer in cases was double that in cases compared to non-cases (16% and 8% respectively).

### 4.3.1 The built environment

The following section outlines the three measures of the built environment for the study participants. The average baseline air pollution was 12.9 ppb and 12.8 ppb for cases and non-cases, respectively (

Table 7). A greater average yearly pollution concentration was seen, with 19.0 and 17.9 ppb for cases and non-cases. The average z-score was 1.1 and 1.0 for cases and non-cases. For modeling purposes, the quintile variable was used. Finally, the baseline and annual mean between the years 1982 and 2016 for residential greenness for both cases and non-cases was 0.3.

	Variables	Overall		Case		Non-cases	
variables		Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD
Air pollution	Annual average NO <sub>2</sub> ppb at BL	12.8	4.5	12.9	4.32	12.8	1.08
	Average for 1980-2012 (NO <sub>2</sub> ppb)	17.9	5.3	18.0	5.16	17.9	1.54
Walkability	BL	1.0	2.1	1.1	2.04	1.0	0.19
Greenness	Annual mean NDVI at postal code at BL	0.3	0.1	0.3	0.14	0.3	0.03
	Average for 1982-2016 (NDVI)	0.3	0.1	0.3	0.10	0.3	0.03

# Table 7: Built environment characteristics

Abbreviations: BL: baseline mass; NDVI: normalized difference vegetation index; NO<sub>2</sub>: nitrogen dioxide; ppb: parts per billion; SD: deviation Veg.: vegetable

# 4.3.1.1 Traffic-related air pollution (NO<sub>2</sub>)

Nitrogen dioxide was used as a marker for TRAP and was measured in parts per billion (ppb). The overall mean ppb for NO<sub>2</sub> at baseline was 12.78 with an SD of 4.54 (Figure 4). The minimum NO<sub>2</sub> concentration at baseline was 1.4 ppb and the maximum was 34.3 ppb. When stratifying by cases and non-cases, the mean ppb at baseline was 12.9 (SD = 4.32) and 12.8 (SD =1.08), respectively (Figure 4). This difference in air pollution concentration between cases and non-cases was not significantly different (p = 0.69). Finally, the coefficient of variation for NO<sub>2</sub> was 35.5%.



*Figure 4: Baseline air pollution (ppb NO<sub>2</sub>) for breast cancer cases and non-cases* Abbreviations: NO<sub>2</sub>: Nitrogen dioxide; ppb: parts per billion

The average for the population between time period of 1980 - 2012 was 17.9 ppb (SD = 5.30); 18.0 ppb (SD = 5.16) for cases and 17.9 ppb (SD = 1.54) for non-cases (Figure 5). Similar to the baseline measurement, the longitudinal NO<sub>2</sub> concentration difference between cases and non-cases was not significant (p = 0.80). The minimum concentration was 1.49 ppb, and the maximum was 43.99 ppb. The coefficient of variation for the mean NO<sub>2</sub> concentration over the period of 1980 – 2012 was less than that of NO<sub>2</sub> at baseline, at 29.8%.



*Figure 5: Average air pollution (NO<sub>2</sub>) for cases and non-cases between 1980-2012* Abbreviations: NO<sub>2</sub>: Nitrogen dioxide; ppb: parts per billion

#### 4.3.1.2 Walkability

Walkability was measured using the 2006 ALE-index from the CANUE dataset. This dataset used z-scores to compare the walkability data across the entire country. The average walkability z-score was 1.00 (SD = 2.1), for cases was 1.10 (SD = 2.01) and non-cases was 1.00 (SD = 0.19) – this difference was non-significant (p = 0.57). Boxplots are presented in Figure 6, all distributions are right-skewed.



*Figure 6: Walkability z-scores for breast cancer cases and non-cases* 

For the Cox modeling analysis, the variable was also divided into quintiles. This resulted in an equal distribution of non-cases, across each quintile. For breast cancer cases, 12%, 19%, 27% 23% and 18% of participants were in quintile 1 though 5, respectively.

# 4.3.1.3 Greenness

Greenness was measured using taking the mean annual NDVI at the site of baseline residence for the given year of entry. Figure 7 depicts boxplots of baseline NDVI for the overall population as well as stratified by cases and non-cases. The overall average NDVI at baseline was 0.34 (SD = 0.13) – cases had an average of 0.33 (SD = 0.14) and non-cases with an average of 0.34 (SD = 0.03). This difference was not significant (p = 0.70). The coefficient of variation for baseline NDVI was 36.6%. Similar to the other built environment variables, the non-cases had a larger SDs compared to the cases, as well as more outliers, However, unlike walkability and air pollution, the distribution of greenness was not skewed.



Figure 7: Baseline greenness (NDVI) for cases and non-cases

A variable for the average greenness NDVI over the time period of 1982 - 2016 was created. The average for the population was 0.34 (SD = 0.09); 0.34 (SD = 0.10) for cases and 0.34 (SD = 0.03) for non-cases, as presented in Figure 8. The minimum was -0.022 and the maximum was 0.73. The coefficient of variation for the mean greenness NDVI was 25.9%, which was smaller than the coefficient of variation for the NDVI at baseline.



Figure 8: Average greenness (NDVI) for cases and non-cases between 1982 – 2016

# 4.3.1.4 Relationship between built environmental factors

A moderately strong positive Spearman correlation (Table 8) was found between baseline air pollution (NO<sub>2</sub>) and baseline walkability z-score (r = 0.61, p = <0.01), a finding consistent with another study that correlated NO<sub>2</sub> and walkability in the same region.<sup>125</sup> The correlation was less strong for the average NO<sub>2</sub> exposure between the years of 1980 – 2012 and baseline walkability (r = 0.48, p = <0.01). Moderately weak correlations were found between baseline greenness (NDVI) and air pollution (r = -0.36, p = <0.01), and between average NDVI and average NO<sub>2</sub> concentration (r = -0.37, p = <0.01). Finally, the relationship between walkability and greenness also resulted in a moderately weak negative correlation between baseline greenness and baseline walkability (r = -0.32, p = <0.01) and between average greenness over the time period of 1982 – 2016 and baseline

walkability (r = -0.34, p = <0.01). People in less walkable areas tend to live towards the edge of a region with increased vegetative cover.

_	BL air pollution	Avg air pollution	BL Walkability	BL greenness	Avg greenness
BL air pollution	1	0.79 (0.01)	0.61 (<0.01)	-0.37 (<0.01)	-0.34 (0.01)
Avg air pollution	0.79 (0.01)	1	0.48 (<0.01)	-0.36 (<0.01)	-0.36 (<0.01)
BL Walkability	0.61 (<0.01)	0.48 (<0.01)	1	-0.32 (<0.01)	-0.34 (<0.01)
BL greenness	-0.37 (<0.01)	-0.36 (<0.01)	-0.32 (<0.01)	1	-0.37 (<0.01)
Avg greenness	-0.34 (0.01)	-0.36 (<0.01)	-0.34 (<0.01)	-0.37 (<0.01)	1

Table 8: Spearman correlations between built environment variables

Abbreviations: Avg: Average; BL: Baseline

Note: Air pollution (NO<sub>2</sub>) is measured in ppb, greenness is measured in NDVI and walkability is measured using a z-score. P-value is represented in brackets.

# 4.4 Multivariable analysis – Cox PH regression

#### 4.4.1 Air pollution (NO<sub>2</sub>)

The full model for baseline TRAP (NO<sub>2</sub>, measured in ppb) included all 15 covariables of interest as discussed in Section 3.6.2. In the full model, the HR for a 10 ppb increase in NO<sub>2</sub> was of 1.49 (95% CI = 0.86, 2.60; p = 0.16). The final adjusted model was found using the change-in-effect model building process described in Section 3.6.2. A table presenting the results for the changein-estimate modelling procedure is provided in the Appendix, Table A2. The final adjusted model included BMI and social deprivation. The HR from this final model for a 10 ppb increase in baseline NO<sub>2</sub> was 1.45 (95% CI = 0.90, 2.33, p = 0.12; Table 9). The concordance for this model was 0.59. There were a total of 43,027 person-years and 91 incident breast diagnoses included in this model and a total of 1545 observations excluded due to missing data (31 breast cancer cases lost to missing data).

Variable	HR	95% CI (lower bound)	95% CI (upper bound)	р
Air pollution (NO <sub>2</sub> ) per 10 ppb increase*	1.45	0.90	2.33	0.12
BMI**	1.01	0.98	1.05	0.45
Social deprivation***	-	-	-	0.01
Q1 (32 cases, 10,713 pys)	1.00	-	-	-
Q2 (19 cases, 8,411 pys)	0.74	0.42	1.30	0.30
Q3 (11 cases, 7,290 pys)	0.48	0.24	0.95	0.04
Q4 (15 cases, 7,970 pys)	0.55	0.29	1.05	0.07
Q5 (14 cases, 8,233 pys)	0.49	0.25	0.94	0.03

Table 9: Baseline TRAP (NO<sub>2</sub>) change-in-effect Cox PH model

Abbreviations: BMI: body mass index; CI: Confidence Interval; HR: Hazards ratio; NO<sub>2</sub>: Nitrogen dioxide; p: p-value; pys: person-years Q: Quintile \* Adjusted for BMI and social deprivation

\*\* Adjusted for  $NO_2$  and social deprivation

\*\*\* Adjusted for NO<sub>2</sub> and BMI

The Schoenfeld's test for proportional hazards resulted in a p-value of 0.53 for NO<sub>2</sub> and a global p-value of 0.39. All other p-values for the Schoenfeld's test were also above 0.05, therefore the proportional hazard assumption was met (p-values for BMI = 0.52 and social deprivation = 0.22).

Breast cancer risk associated with the average longitudinal TRAP exposure (between the years of 1980-2012) was also determined. The full model had an HR estimate of 1.34 (95% CI = 0.85, 2.12; p = 0.20) for a 10 ppb increase in average NO<sub>2</sub>. The change-in-effect process identified the same two covariates as the baseline pollution model as confounders: BMI and social deprivation (Table 10). A table for the results for the change-in-estimate process are provided in the Appendix, Table A3. The estimated HR for averaged air pollution was 1.41 per 10 ppb (95% CI = 0.95, 2.08; p 0.09). This HR estimate was similar to that of baseline air pollution. The concordance was 0.58 and there was a total of 42,936 total person-years and 91 incident breast cancer diagnoses included

and 1501 participants excluded due to missing data (31 breast cancer cases excluded). The proportional hazards assumption was met (Schoenfeld's test p-value = 0.70, 0.52, 0.22, 0.39 for air pollution, BMI, social deprivation and global, respectively).

Table 10: Averaged TRAP (NO<sub>2</sub>) from 1980 – 2016 change-in-effect Cox PH model

Variable	HR	95% CI (lower bound)	95% CI (upper bound)	р
Air pollution (NO <sub>2</sub> ) per 10 ppb increase*	1.41	0.95	2.08	0.09
BMI**	1.01	0.98	1.05	0.45
Social deprivation***	1.00	-	-	0.02
Q1 (32 cases, 10,689 pys)	1.00	-	-	-
Q2 (19 cases, 8,402 pys)	0.74	0.42	1.30	0.29
Q3 (11 cases, 7,268 pys)	0.48	0.24	0.95	0.04
Q4 (15 cases, 7,965 pys)	0.56	0.30	1.06	0.07
Q5 (14 cases, 8,211 pys)	0.51	0.27	0.96	0.04

Abbreviations: BMI: body mass index; CI: Confidence Interval; HR: Hazards ratio; NO<sub>2</sub>: Nitrogen dioxide; p: p-value; pys: person-years Q: Quintile

\* Adjusted for BMI and social deprivation

\*\* Adjusted for NO2 and social deprivation

\*\*\* Adjusted for  $NO_2$  and BMI

#### 4.4.2 Walkability

For walkability analyses, a quintile variable was used. Quintile 1 represents the least walkable areas, while quintile 5 represents the most walkable. The full model for walkability included all 15 covariates – the HR for quintiles 2 though 5 in relation the quintile 1 were 1.70, 2.49, 2.69 and 1.75, with a test for trend p-value of 0.09. Using the change-in-effect procedure, the final adjusted model included only social deprivation. A table for the results of the change-in-estimate process are provided the Appendix, Table A4. The p-value for the test for trend for walkability was 0.06. The adjusted HRs for quintiles 2 though 5, in relation to quintile 1, were 1.67, 2.53, 2.24 ad 1.83 (Table 11), signifying the least walkable area (quintile 1) had the lowest risk. This model included

49,666 total person-years, 112 incident breast cancer cases and excluded 653 participants due to missing data (10 breast cancer cases excluded).

Variable	HR	95% CI (lower bound)	95% CI (upper bound)	р
Walkability (Can-ALE)*	-	-	-	0.052
Q1 (13 cases, 9,746 pys)	1.00	-	-	-
Q2 (21 cases, 9,737 pys)	1.67	0.84	3.34	0.15
Q3 (31 cases, 9,805 pys)	2.53	1.32	4.84	0.01
Q4 (27 cases, 9,881 pys)	2.24	1.14	4.36	0.02
Q5 (20 cases, 10,497 pys)	1.83	0.85	3.94	0.12
Social deprivation**	-	-	-	0.08
Q1 (36 cases, 12,635 pys)	1.00	-	-	-
Q2 (25 cases, 9,930 pys)	0.86	0.52	1.43	0.56
Q3 (14 cases, 8,510 pys)	0.55	0.29	1.03	0.06
Q4 (17 cases, 9,260 pys)	0.59	0.32	1.09	0.09
Q5 (20 cases, 9,332 pys)	0.69	0.37	1.26	0.23

#### Table 11: Categorical walkability change-in-effect Cox PH model

Abbreviations: BMI: body mass index; CI: Confidence Interval; HR: Hazards ratio; p: p-value; pys: person-years Q: Quintile

Note: Quintile 5 is the highest walkability

\*\* Adjusted for social deprivation

\*\* Adjusted for walkability

The proportionality assumption was tested using the Schoenfeld's test of proportional hazards. The p-value for walkability and social deprivation were 0.053 and 0.35 respectively, and the global p-value was 0.69, therefore the proportionality assumption was met. The model concordance was 0.61.

## 4.4.3 Greenness

Models for greenness used NDVI as a continuous variable as well as a categorical variable. In the full model, the HR for baseline greenness was 0.99, (95% CI = 0.71, 1.39; p = 0.95) for a 1-IQR
increase (IQR = 0.168). The change-in-effect procedure did not identify any variables as a confounder (Table 12). A table for the results of the change-in-estimate process are provided the Table A5 in the Appendix, the model did not include any other variables. The unadjusted changein-effect model HR for a 1-IQR increase in baseline greenness was 0.96 (95% CI = 0.75, 1.23; p = 0.76). The concordance was 0.48. There was a total of 51,292 person-years and 113 incident breast cancer diagnoses included in this model -418 participants were excluded due to missing data (nine of which were participants with breast cancer). The PH assumption for the adjusted model was met, greenness had a p-value of 0.14 (the global p-value was the same because no other covariates were included in the adjusted model).

Table 12: Greenness (NDVI) change-in-effect Cox PH model

Variable	HR	95% CI (lower bound)	95% CI (upper bound)	р
Baseline greenness (NDVI)*	0.96	0.75	1.23	0.76

Abbreviations: CI: Confidence Interval; HR: Hazards ratio; NDVI: Normalized Difference Vegetation Index p: pvalue; pys: person-years \*Unadjusted

The baseline greenness model was also presented using a categorical tertile variable for greenness (Table 13). Tertile 1 were those with low NDVI exposure (areas with less surrounding greenness), whereas tertile 2 and 3 had medium and high had exposure, respectively. The categorical variable for greenness had an overall p-value of 0.42. The medium and high tertiles had HRs of 0.76 and 1.01 in relation to the tertile 1 (test for trend p-value = 0.98).

Variable	HR	95% CI (lower bound)	95% CI (upper bound)	р
Baseline greenness (NDVI)*	-	-	-	0.98
Low (41 cases, 17,124 pys)	1.00	-	-	-
Medium (31 cases, 17,098 pys)	0.76	0.48	1.21	0.25
High (41 cases, 17,070 pys)	1.01	0.65	1.55	0.98

#### Table 13: Categorical baseline greenness (NDVI) change-in-effect Cox PH model

Abbreviations: CI: Confidence Interval; HR: Hazards ratio; NDVI: Normalized Difference Vegetation Index p: p-value; pys: person-years

\*Unadjusted

A model for average longitudinal greenness exposure between the years of 1982 and 2016 (Table 14). In the full model, the HR for average greenness exposure was 0.69 (95% CI = 0.43, 1.09; p = 0.11) for a 1-IQR increase (IQR = 0.111). The adjusted model used only social deprivation as a covariate. A table for the results of the change-in-estimate process are provided Appendix, Table A6. The adjusted HR for average greenness exposure was 0.80 for a 1-IQR increase (95% CI = 0.63, 1.02; p = 0.07). The model concordance was 0.57. There was a total of 50,0031 person-years and 112 incident breast cancers included in this model – 580 participants were excluded due to missing data (10 of which were participants with incident breast cancer). The PH assumption for the adjusted model was met – greenness had a p-value of 0.13, social deprivation had p = 0.38 and a global p-value of 0.42.

Variable	HR	95% CI (lower bound)	95% CI (upper bound)	р
Averaged greenness (NDVI)*	0.80	0.63	1.02	0.07
Social deprivation**	-	-	-	0.04
Q1 (36 cases, 12,538 pys)	1.00	-	-	-
Q2 (25 cases, 9,857 pys)	0.87	0.52	1.45	0.59
Q3 (14 cases, 8,553 pys)	0.55	0.29	1.02	0.06
Q4 (17 cases, 9,296 pys)	0.57	0.32	1.03	0.06
Q5 (20 cases, 9,308 pys)	0.64	0.36	1.14	0.13

Table 14: Average greenness (NDVI) between 1982-2016 change-in-effect Cox PH model

Abbreviations: CI: Confidence Interval; HR: Hazards ratio; NDVI: Normalized Difference Vegetation Index p: p-value; pys: person-years \*Adjusted for social deprivation

\*\*Adjusted for NDVI

This longitudinal greenness model was also presented using a categorical tertile variable for greenness (Table 15). The categorical variable for greenness had a p-value of 0.22. The medium and high tertiles had HRs of 0.69 and 0.71, in relation to the tertile 1 (test for trend p = 0.15). *Table 15: Categorical greenness (NDVI) between 1982-2016 change-in-effect Cox model* 

Variable	HR	95% CI (lower bound)	95% CI (upper bound)	р
Averaged greenness (NDVI)*	-	-	-	0.15
Low (40 cases, 16,620 pys)	1.00	-	-	-
Medium (31 cases, 16,156 pys)	0.69	0.43	1.10	0.12
High (41 cases, 116,777 pys)	0.71	0.45	1.13	0.15
Social deprivation**	-	-	-	0.05
Q1 (36 cases, 12,538 pys)	1.00	-	-	-
Q2 (25 cases, 9,857 pys)	0.87	0.52	1.46	0.60
Q3 (14 cases, 8,553 pys)	0.55	0.30	1.02	0.06
Q4 (17 cases, 9,296 pys)	0.59	0.33	1.05	0.07
Q5 (20 cases, 9,308 pys)	0.66	0.37	1.17	0.15

Abbreviations: CI: Confidence Interval; HR: Hazards ratio; NDVI: Normalized Difference Vegetation Index p: p-value; pys: person-years

\*Adjusted for social deprivation

\*\*Adjusted for NDVI

## Chapter 5: Discussion and conclusion

## 5.1 Findings

#### 5.1.1 Overview and interpretation of findings

Our study assessed the impact of TRAP, walkability, and greenness on breast cancer risk in postmenopausal women in the Lower Mainland of BC. Our study was comprised of 7,330 participants, with 122 incident breast cancer diagnoses. Non-significant HRs were found for all three environmental measures, for both baseline and average longitudinal exposures. Although not statistically significant, the TRAP models had similar magnitudes of risk compared to other studies in the literature. There is very little research to date measuring the direct association of walkability and greenness and breast cancer risk. More research is needed to understand if these nonsignificant results are underpowered or due to confounding and/or exposure misclassification.

#### 5.1.2 Air pollution

This is the first study assessing the impact of TRAP on post-menopausal breast cancer risk in the Lower Mainland of BC. The adjusted HR for baseline TRAP (NO<sub>2</sub>) was 1.45 (95% CI = 0.90, 2.33, p = 0.12) for a 10 ppb increase in NO<sub>2</sub>. Similarly, the adjusted HR for average longitudinal NO<sub>2</sub> exposure was 1.41 (95% CI = 0.95, 2.08, p = 0.09) for a 10 ppb increase. This suggests that in the BCGP and the Lower Mainland, a baseline air pollution measure may be a good marker for longitudinal exposure.

To date, there has been suggestive evidence of the impact of TRAP as a risk factor for breast cancer risk in the literature.<sup>66</sup> While several Canadian and international studies which have found

significant results, others have reported non-significant findings. Although the findings of our study were also non-significant, the magnitude of risk was in the same range as most other studies reporting increased risk of breast cancer associated with TRAP. The majority of studies to date investigating TRAP and breast cancer risk were done using a case-control design. This study was one of the few which used a longitudinal cohort design with Cox regression modeling.

Significant results of similar magnitude to our study were identified in two Canadian studies. A study by Hystad et al.,<sup>16</sup> measured the association between NO<sub>2</sub> and breast cancer in a case-control study of urban centres across eight Canadian provinces, and included approximately 1,500 cases and 1,500 controls. Hystad investigated pre- and post-menopausal women. The fully adjusted model included age and province, BMI, alcohol, smoking, PA, routine mammography, secondhand smoke and various women's health variables. The adjusted odds ratio (OR) was 1.07 (95% CI = 0.86, 1.32). The Hystad study also conducted stratified analyses by province by randomly sampling breast cancer cases from each province to match a pre-determined sample quota. The adjusted OR for BC was 1.54 per 10 ppb (95% CI = 0.95, 2.51). The magnitude of this effect was similar to our study; however, the CI was much larger, and the authors noted that the inflated BC results may have been due to BC having the largest oversampling of breast cancer cases. Hystad and colleagues also noted positive associations for pre-menopausal women, with an OR of 1.28 (95% CI = 0.92, 1.79) per 10 ppb. Another smaller case-control study, set in Montréal, included 383 cases and 416 controls.<sup>11</sup> In the study, Crouse et al. found a significant OR of 1.31 (95% CI =1.00, 1.71) per 5 ppb increase (or an OR of 1.72 per 10 ppb, 95% CI = 1.00, 2.92), after adjusting for similar pre-selected confounders as the Hystad study. Both of these Canadian studies used casecontrol designs, which can have limitations such as recall, selection and screening biases, as well as a lack of longitudinal exposure,<sup>11</sup> something our cohort design was able to account for.

A large Canadian cohort study by Goldberg et al. analysed 89,247 women in a national study.<sup>4</sup> The cohort was composed of women between the ages of 40 and 59, with menopausal status being determined by two separate age cut-offs of 50 and 52 – approximately 39% of the study population was considered to be post-menopausal. The cohort included 5,851 incident breast cancer cases, 47% of which were in post-menopausal women. Similar to our study, Goldberg used Cox proportional hazards models to estimate time-to-event risk. The authors assessed five predetermined models which accounted for various confounders, and for two different postmenopausal age cut-offs: 50 and 52. For post-menopausal cohorts, little evidence of association was found. Using an age cut-off of 52 years, the post-menopausal fully adjusted models had a rate 1.01 (95% CI = 0.96, 1.06) per 1-IQR of 9.7 ppb (rounded to two decimal points, this result does not change per 10 pp increase), with very similar results for the 50 year cut-off. In contrast, in premenopausal cohorts, based on age alone, stronger magnitudes of association were found, with fully adjusted RRs of 1.17 (95% CI = 1.00, 1.38) and 1.13 (95% CI = 0.94, 1.37) for age cut-offs of 52 and 50, respectively. Our study appears to benefit from a more accurate measure of postmenopausal status. Although these Canadian results were not specific to the BC Lower Mainland, certain population characteristics would be similar due to the Canadian context of the study.

There have also been studies on TRAP and breast cancer incidence conducted outside of a Canadian setting. Andersen et al. conducted a large European based longitudinal cohort study measuring the effect long-term ambient air pollution on incidence post-menopausal breast cancer.<sup>59</sup> The authors measured multiple traffic-related pollutants, but found non-significant results for NO<sub>2</sub> (HR=1.02 per 10  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup>, 95% CI = 0.98, 1.07). Note that 1 ppb is equal to 1.25  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup> at 1 under standard conditions, 1 atmosphere and a temperature of 25° Celsius.<sup>126</sup> The Andersen study also found non-significant results for other pollutants, including for PM<sub>2.5</sub>, PM<sub>10</sub> and PM<sub>coarse</sub>, but, did however find a significant result for NO<sub>x</sub> with an HR of 1.04 per 10  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup>, (95% CI = 1.00, 1.08, p = 0.04).

The statistically non-significant results in our study may be attributed to reduced power due to the relatively small sample size, or potentially the lower overall ambient air pollution (NO<sub>2</sub> and PM) and lower variation in air pollution in Vancouver and the Lower Mainland than found elsewhere, although the effect size was similar to those reported elsewhere. Most of the Canadian breast cancer research in relation to air pollution has been conducted in Montréal. Although ambient traffic-related pollution levels are similar in the two cities, they are not directly comparable. Both Montréal and Vancouver have similar NO<sub>2</sub> concentrations (average: 10.9 and 11.1 respectively, over the years 2009 to 2014) which are far below the WHO guidelines (21.2 ppb).<sup>127</sup> As discussed, TRAP consists of a mixture of different gasses, particulate matter and other volatile organic compounds. Nitrogen dioxide is not yet classified a carcinogen; however, it is often used as a marker for other cancer-causing agents, including particulate matter.

Although Vancouver and Montréal have similar NO<sub>2</sub> levels, particulate matter concentration in Montréal are more than double those in Vancouver (average: 10.2 and 4.9 mcg/m<sup>2</sup> respectively, over the years 2009 to 2014), and surpasses the WHO guideline for PM (10 mcg/m<sup>2</sup>). Due to these smaller concentrations of air pollution in Vancouver and the Lower Mainland, the association between air pollution and breast cancer risk may be harder to detect. Similarly, Vancouver also has low levels of NO<sub>2</sub> and PM compared to larger international cities like Boston, London and Hong Kong, which double or even triple WHO guidelines. Further research some into the effect of TRAP in areas exceeding these guidelines is key to fully understanding the effect it has on breast cancer risk.

The Andersen study, as well as some of the other studies previously mentioned, noted a key limitation in that it lacked early lifetime exposure to air pollution. Crouse et al. noted, participants are not likely to live in the same house over a lifetime which is why a longitudinal measure of exposure is necessary.<sup>11</sup> Because of this, measures of ambient air pollution to study participants can be difficult. Due to the linkage of the CANUE environmental consortium with the BCGP cohort, our study was able to capture an average NO<sub>2</sub> over the past 32 years accounting for changes in residence throughout this time period. This longitudinal pollution exposure mapped to past residences is fairly unique to this study and helps fill a gap in the literature.

Some of the current literature have shown results suggesting an association between TRAP and breast cancer incidence, however, results across studies have not all been conclusive. While our study provides a unique view of this association in the Lower Mainland of BC, no significant association was found. More research is needed to be able to determine if TRAP is a significant contributor to breast cancer risk in post-menopausal women.

This is the first study to our knowledge to be conducted measuring the direct effect of urban walkability on breast cancer risk. The walkability model had HRs adjusted for social deprivation, ranging from 1.67 to 2.53 for quintile 2 though 5 (quintile 5 being most walkable), with the highest being quintile 3. The test for trend of an overall difference across categories gave a p-value of 0.06. The adjusted HRs for quintiles 2 through 5, in relation to quintile 1, were all greater than 1, indicating that quintile 1 (the least walkable) had the lowest breast cancer risk. The greatest adjusted HR, in relation to quintile 1, was quintile 3 with a HR of 2.53 (95% CI = 1.14, 4.36).

It is possible the lack of an observed significant effect is a function of type II error where the null hypothesis is accepted rather than dismissed. Type II error may be a function of how walkability measures were assessed from Can-ALE. The Can-ALE data used in this study is based on land area and is "2-dimensional" or flat rather than a "3-dimensional" floor space approach built from property assessment parcel level data (Frank et al 2021 – in press). Developing walkability measures over large geographies such as all of Canada or the US typically requires using land area rather than floor space data. It is also interesting to note that increasing walkability was associated with increasing breast risk. This result appears counter-intuitive and is contrary to most literature on walkability and chronic disease.<sup>20,128,129</sup> This may be due to residual confounding, in that the more walkable areas may be the most affluent, the possibility that there is not enough variability in the dataset . Further research is required to understand this association.

The scoping review in Chapter 2 was unable to uncover any studies investigating this association. One study did, however, investigate the effect of walkability on breast cancer mortality. This study

68

did find that increased walkability was associated with lower risk of breast cancer mortality. Higher rates of breast cancer mortality were found in more car dependent areas with lower walkability.<sup>19</sup> Although their research was not studying walkability in relation to breast cancer risk, breast cancer mortality does offer some insight into a possible association between walkability and breast cancer. Unfortunately, the entirety of this publication was not in English and only the abstract was able to be reviewed.

Unlike air pollution and greenness, there is no direct measure for walkability and therefore a variety of indices have been derived using similar variables to construct the index. The Can-ALE index, used in our study, is one of these indices, however, other notable indices include Walk score, the Pedestrian Index of the Environment (PIE), the Vancouver Walkability Index (WI), the Neighborhood Destination Accessibility Index (NDAI), and the Pedestrian Potential Index (PPI).<sup>130</sup> Unfortunately, the Can-ALE index was only implemented in 2006 and therefore a longitudinal walkability measure study was not available. The Can-ALE walkability scores were measured differently at two timepoints – 2006 and 2016 – and are not comparable. Therefore, only the 2006 measure was used and was extrapolated to the residence at entry. Since most participants were enrolled into the BCGP around this timepoint, it is expected that this Can-ALE still provides a reasonable representation of their residence at enrolment, however, it cannot be representational for the lifetime exposure of participants most of whom have lived in a variety of locations with varying levels of walkability. Walkability in a given location is also subject to change over time as communities add new development, land uses change, and improvements are made to street design. These changes to walkability have been shown to affect vehicle use and carbon emission, physical activity and walking volume in communities.<sup>125,131</sup>

Another aspect of walkability is the amount individuals interreact with their local environment and walk within their neighbourhood. Similar points could be made for green space and air pollution – whether certain individuals interact enough or spend sufficient time near their residence to truly be exposed to their surroundings. An Australian study found a strong correlation between walkability and amount weekly walk by individuals, after controlling for SES, ages and gender.<sup>90</sup> Our study did not investigate whether this was the case in the BCGP, however a study by Colley et al. for Statistics Canada did investigate this using the CAN-ALE.<sup>132</sup> The Canada-wide study used the Canadian Health Measure Survey, an ongoing cross-sectional Statistic Canada study from a representative national sample. The authors used linear regression models, adjusting for age, sex, household income and measured PA using questionnaires and as accelerometers found a positive linear trend between the Can-ALE index and physical activity. Although these results cannot necessarily be extrapolated to the BCGP specifically, they do provide a consensus that there is a positive relationship between the walkability of one's neighbourhood and the amount they are physically active. Further investigation should be done within the BCGP.

Although there have been no previously published studies on breast cancer risk in relation to walkability, there is a plethora of studies investigating walkability and obesity. These studies have provided evidence that increased walkability is associated with a healthier BMI.<sup>84,91</sup> As discussed in the scoping review, both increased BMI and obesity are known to be significant risk factors for breast cancer.<sup>86–89</sup> Although there is there is currently no significant evidence of a direct association with breast cancer risk and walkability, the indirect link through BMI and obesity may play a role in breast cancer risk.

The relationship between walkability and air pollution may also be an important factor which should be investigated in future studies. Dense metropolitan areas tend to be the most walkable, as well as the most polluted. Our study noted a positive correlation between increased air pollution and increase walkability (BL cor = 0.57, p = <0.01, longitudinal cor = 0.43, p = <0.01). A similar finding was observed in Vancouver-based study conducted by Marshall et al.<sup>125</sup> Their study investigated how the built environment influences health through physical activity and air pollution. Marshall and colleagues, using a different index of walkability, also found evidence that many areas with high walkability had the highest concentrations of TRAP. They also noted that neighbourhoods with high walkability and low pollution were rare – they were mainly located near, but not within, the city centre and primarily in high SES neighbourhoods.

Although statistically significant findings were not found, this study helps direct attention to an understudied area. Future studies investigating the effects of walkability on breast cancer are warranted. It is also important to understand the relationship between walkability and other aspects of the built environment and their corresponding effect on cancer.

#### 5.1.4 Greenness

The adjusted HR for baseline greenness was 0.96 (95% CI = 0.75, 1.23, p = 0.76) for a 1-IQR increase (IQR = 0.168) in NDVI. Similarly, the adjusted model for longitudinal greenness exposure HR of 0.80 (95% CI = 0.63, 1.02, p = 0.07) for a 1-IQR increase (IQR = 0.111), implying a reduction of breast cancer risk associated with increased greenness, albeit statistically non-

significant. Although not significant, these findings may imply increased greenness offers a protective effect for breast cancer.

As with walkability, there was been very little published research with respect to greenness and breast cancer risk. A Spanish case-control study by O'Callaghan-Gordo et al. investigated the association between residential proximity to green space and breast cancer risk, with over 1,000 cases and controls, respectively.<sup>18</sup> Their study used NDVI to measure exposure to green space at 100m, 300m and 500m. The authors used logistic mixed-effects regression, with random effects for hospitals, and adjusted for age, education, SES and number of children. It was found that the presence of urban green spaces – residing within 300m of urban green space (e.g., parks, zoos, gardens, etc.) – was significantly associated with reduced risk of breast cancer (OR = 0.65; 95% CI = 0.49, 0.86), after adjusting for confounders. Interestingly, O'Callaghan-Gordo et al. found the opposite effect in agricultural areas – the presence of green space was associated with an increased risk (OR = 1.33, 95% CI = 1.07, 1.65). The authors also concluded increased surrounding greenness (NDVI) within 300m was associated with increased breast cancer risk (OR = 1.20 per 1-IQR; 95% CI = 1.07, 1.34). This finding is opposite to what was found in our study; however, the authors do indicate that this increased risk is may have been driven by the positive association agricultural areas, as these areas tended to have higher NDVIs. This effect of agricultural areas would likely be less pronounced in our study as it was restricted to urban areas. O'Callaghan-Gordo et al. did restrict the study in a sub-analysis of participants who lived in the residence at least 10 years prior enrolment and found consistent findings. They also found consistent findings when restricting to urban areas of greater than 100,000 residents.

Further, the Spanish study investigated an important aspect of the relationship between green space and breast cancer risk – the mediation through physical activity (PA) and air pollution – which was not thoroughly investigated in our study. They hypothesized that any association would be mediated by either PA or pollution levels, however, their results did not support this mediation effect. The green space model in our study used PA in the change-in-effect model building process, but it was not found to be a significant confounder. O'Callaghan-Gordo and colleagues found similar PA levels regardless of presence of green space. Consistent findings have been identified in two studies investigating this topic.<sup>133,134</sup> Both authors found that PA does not explain the association between green space and health. It is noted, however, that these findings may be specific to the region studied and may reflect aspects of social and cultural patterns of the population studied or specific characteristics about the green space itself. The Spanish study also discussed the relationship between that urban green space and air pollution. They found that people living near green areas were exposed to higher PM levels as well as similar NO<sub>2</sub> levels to those living further away from green areas. An opposite association was identified in our study, participants living in areas with high NDVI were exposed to less air pollution, however, only a moderately weak correlation was observed (BL cor = -0.36; p = <0.01, and longitudinal cor = -0.37; p = <0.01).

Similar to our study, the O'Callaghan-Gordo study benefitted from accurate measures of green space and breast cancer diagnoses. However, the authors also noted difference in SES between cases and controls – indicating there may have been selection bias. The BCGP and CANUE linkage in this study was able to provide measures of community level SES and deprivation. The O'Callaghan-Gordo study also benefitted from multiple distances to green spaces. Further

investigation of the BCGP using different measures of green space may be important to consider in future research. A limitation with baseline green space annual measurements is that they can vary from year to year, depending on the amount of rainfall. Because of this, assigning quintiles baseline may result in misclassification when participants joined the study in different years. An advantage of our study was in its cohort design which was able to assign longitudinal exposure. As with walkability, the scientific community would benefit from further investigation into this area.

## 5.2 Strengths and limitations

#### 5.2.1 Limitations

One limitation which arises from the of environmental exposure data used in this study is that the exposure experienced at the home location only captures part of an individual's exposure. For example, workers typically spend the majority of their weekdays elsewhere where environmental factors are quite different. Second, for both air pollution and green space, the CANUE dataset allowed a measure of longitudinal NO<sub>2</sub> concentrations and NDVI, however, for walkability a similar longitudinal measure was not available. Walkability scores were extrapolated to the residence at study enrolment. Baseline measurements may not be a good representation of lifetime exposure of walkability, which would be a much better indicator of breast cancer risk. People generally move a number of times over their life course. The average person in the US moves 11.7 times in their lifetime and Statistics Canada has indicted that about half of Canadians have moved within the past five years or plan to move in the next five.<sup>135,136</sup> All measures of the built environment would greatly benefit from more precise spatial geography, such as capturing work as well as home locations, or using floor space data when possible to enable the 3-dimensional

nature of the built environment to be captured.<sup>72,137,138</sup> Finally, the definition of post-menopausal status may present some limitations. Menopausal status was asked in the questionnaire at baseline, but unlike cancer diagnosis, there was no follow-up for menopausal status. Age alone is not a definitive indicator of menopause, therefore there may be some misclassification present, however it is likely to be non-differential.

Similar to any study of the built environment, understanding the extent to which an individual interacts directly with their environment can be challenging. A participant may live in an area with low pollution exposure but spend most of their day at work in area with high exposure. Similarly, a participant may live in a highly walkable neighbourhood, but perhaps never chooses to walk for exercise or as a mode of transport. However, this exposure misclassification would also likely be non-differential and therefore attenuate the results towards the null hypothesis. Being able to account for these confounders would make the study design much stronger. Finally, although the BCGP had a reasonable number of incident breast cancer, the relatively small sample size limits the statistical power.

#### 5.2.2 Strengths

This study benefited from several key methodological strengths. Importantly, this study was able to take advantage of a large prospective cohort along with linked environmental exposure information and incident cancer diagnoses. The two datasets have been linked using individual residential postal code data at enrolment and residential history. This linkage allowed longitudinal environmental exposures before cancer diagnosis to be analysed for green space and air pollution exposure. This is a particular advantage, as longitudinal information has not always been available in previous air pollution breast cancer studies, and many studies have only used baseline measurements.

Another key strength of this analysis is in the study design itself. The longitudinal cohort design allowed cancer incidence to be measured. Having breast diagnoses linked from the provincial cancer registry is a major strength due to the to the completeness and accuracy of the BC Cancer registry. Finally, the CANUE environmental dataset provided consistent and reliable measures of air pollution, linked to participant, as well as metrics for neighbourhood social and material deprivation. As noted in the scoping review, deprivation and marginalization have been found to be key confounders to for environmental risks on breast cancer. Using the change-in-estimate model building approach, both social and material deprivation were found to be important confounders in almost all models. Measures of deprivation are often not easily attainable, and therefore provide a great advantage to this study.

## 5.3 Study implications

Breast cancer presents a serious global burden, and in many instances can be prevented by modifying environmental and lifestyle factors.<sup>1–4,6</sup> Recent studies have demonstrated how characteristics associated with the built environment can impact many aspects of health, which reinforces the importance of research in breast cancer prevention in relation to urban planning and pollution levels.<sup>139</sup> Although no significant results were found, statistical significance was approached in all three built environment characteristics. Our study can help inform the scientific community that further built environment research is needed in relation to these modifiable potential breast cancer risk factors. Given that other studies have linked the same data with 3-

dimensional parcel level walkability and green space and have found significant relationships with physical activity and obesity (known risk factors for breast cancer), it is therefore possible that breast cancer may also be associated with these same environmental exposures.

#### 5.3.1 Public health implications

To date, the understanding of the association between the built environment and breast cancer risk is still its infancy. Most of the research has been done in relation to TRAP, however, this evidence is still only suggestive, and more research needs to be done to understand this relationship conclusively. That being said, there are large health benefits in having a sustainable and healthier city.<sup>140,141</sup> There have been numerous studies investigating air pollution, walkability and green space in relation to other cancers, PA and obesity, mental health, and other chronic diseases.<sup>20,99,128,129,142</sup>

These three characteristics of the built environment have both direct effects on health, as well as indirect effects, as indicators that influence health behaviours. TRAP is a known carcinogen and it has been well established to cause certain types of cancers as well as other chronic respiratory diseases.<sup>99,143</sup> TRAP can also be related to neighbourhood planning, public transportation, and traffic density, and transportation alternatives, such as walkability. Walkability allows for the easy adoption of healthy behaviours for recreation or commuting, through walking, running or other means of physical activity. As mentioned, there are many published studies that document the association between increased physical activity, decreased BMI and health benefits.<sup>20</sup> Likewise, access green space and greenness has been shown to be protective against mental health outcomes as well as cardiovascular disease.<sup>144</sup> There are theories which posit a direct affect, including

decreased stress.<sup>145</sup> Access to green spaces also provide opportunity for social interaction and opportunity for physical activity.<sup>144</sup>

As a result, when studying the urban environment, it important to understand the relationship between TRAP, walkability and green space within a city, as their existence is not in isolation. Although not the objective of our study, significant correlations were found between all three aspects of the built environment. A study by Frank et al. investigated the relationship between obesity, physical activity and time spent in cars.<sup>91</sup> The study found that each additional hour spent in a car was associated with a 6% increase in likelihood of obesity, whereas each additional kilometre walked per day was associated with a 4.8% reduction in obesity. In another study by Frank, investigators aimed to understand the interaction between neighbourhood walkability and air pollution on health.<sup>146</sup> This Seattle-based study found that a 5% increase in walkability to be associated with 32.1% increase in physically active transport (walking and biking), per capita, and a 0.23-point reduction in BMI. Likewise, Frank found this same increase in walkability to be associated with 6.5% fewer vehicle miles travelled and subsequently, 5.6 fewer grams of NO<sub>x</sub> emitted. This finding creates a solid connection between walkability and TRAP and its effect on BMI – a significant risk factor for breast cancer, specifically in post-menopausal women.<sup>43</sup>

## 5.3.2 Public policy

Public policies can operate on many levels. At macro planning levels, urban spaces can be designed to help minimize exposure to traffic. This can result in decreased concentrations of motor vehicles in crowded urban areas and community spaces, as well as increased public transit

alternatives to gasoline powered vehicles. Other macro strategies include congestion pricing and regulatory approaches to eliminate or reduce all forms of carbon based transport in city centres is being explored globally.<sup>147</sup> A study by Coughlin and King indicate that the location of cancer diagnostic and treatment centres can also be a barrier to accessing health services.<sup>148</sup> The authors found that public transportation routes can play a role in whether women have access appropriate health services. Coughlin and Smith observed that public policy at the community level can promote healthy lifestyles through establishment of bike lanes, green spaces and greenways.<sup>17</sup> A study by Ray et al. reviewed how cancer prevention is influenced by the built environment.<sup>12</sup> The authors indicated how factors of the built environment like transportation, urban design, land use and green spaces affect breast cancer though metrics like air quality, obesity, physical activity and screening. Although the association between the built environment in our study were not significant, there is plenty of evidence supporting the health benefits of a healthy city. Successful implementation of public policies to increase walkability and green space may either directly or indirectly reduce the burden of breast cancer.

## 5.4 Conclusion

Features of the built environment (including TRAP, greenness and walkability) represent an important set of modifiable characteristics that have been shown to influence many aspects of chronic disease and health status. TRAP has many known adverse health effects, including lung cancer and other respiratory diseases, however, its effect on breast cancer is still only suggestive in nature. While our study did not have statistically significant findings, the findings were of similar direction and magnitude to other results in the literature. It is important to note that the effect of air pollution on breast cancer risk was of borderline statistical significance, despite the

relatively low levels of urban air pollution in the Lower Mainland of BC compared to other urban centres. This study is one of the first to investigate the association between green space, walkability and the breast cancer risk in post-menopausal women. Further investigation into the effect is warranted to fully understand the effect of these factors on breast cancer risk. Understanding how the built environment affects breast cancer will support the development of appropriate policies to mitigate the risk.

## 5.5 Future recommendations

Further research is required in all three studied aspects of the built environment. TRAP has been studied in-depth; however, the field would greatly benefit from more research with longitudinal exposure, especially in areas with higher pollution levels. Breast cancer is a disease which develops over a long period of time and therefore lifetime exposure is necessary to better understand the effect TRAP has on breast cancer risk. Research on the other characteristics of the built environment in relation to breast cancer risk, walkability and green space, is still in its infancy. Further research is required to understand if there is a true association between pollution and these aspects of the built environment.

# References

- Sun Y-S, Zhao Z, Yang Z-N, et al. Risk Factors and Preventions of Breast Cancer. *Int J Biol Sci.* 2017;13(11):1387-1397. doi:10.7150/ijbs.21635
- Ghoncheh M, Pournamdar Z, Salehiniya H. Incidence and Mortality and Epidemiology of Breast Cancer in the World. *Asian Pac J Cancer Prev.* 2016;17(S3):43-46. doi:10.7314/apjcp.2016.17.s3.43
- Breast Cancer Statistics | CDC. Published July 29, 2019. Accessed November 11, 2019. https://www.cdc.gov/cancer/breast/statistics/index.htm
- Goldberg MS, Villeneuve PJ, Crouse D, et al. Associations between incident breast cancer and ambient concentrations of nitrogen dioxide from a national land use regression model in the Canadian National Breast Screening Study. *Environment International*. 2019;133:105182. doi:10.1016/j.envint.2019.105182
- The World Health Organization. Cancer. Accessed April 30, 2020. https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/cancer
- Colditz GA, Bohlke K. Preventing breast cancer now by acting on what we already know. *npj Breast Cancer*. 2015;1(1):1-4. doi:10.1038/npjbcancer.2015.9
- United Nations. 2018 Revision of World Urbanization Prospects. Accessed May 7, 2020. https://www.un.org/development/desa/publications/2018-revision-of-world-urbanizationprospects.html

- British Columbia Generations Project. Accessed November 11, 2019. https://www.bcgenerationsproject.ca/
- Canadian Urban Environmental Health Research Consortium. Accessed November 11, 2019. https://canue.ca/
- Surakasula A, Nagarjunapu GC, Raghavaiah KV. A comparative study of pre- and postmenopausal breast cancer: Risk factors, presentation, characteristics and management. J *Res Pharm Pract.* 2014;3(1):12-18. doi:10.4103/2279-042X.132704
- Crouse DL, Goldberg MS, Ross NA, Chen H, Labrèche F. Postmenopausal breast cancer is associated with exposure to traffic-related air pollution in Montreal, Canada: a case-control study. *Environ Health Perspect*. 2010;118(11):1578-1583. doi:10.1289/ehp.1002221
- Wray AJD, Minaker LM. Is cancer prevention influenced by the built environment? A multidisciplinary scoping review. *Cancer*. 2019;125(19):3299-3311. doi:10.1002/cncr.32376
- Chen F, Bina WF. Correlation of white female breast cancer incidence trends with nitrogen dioxide emission levels and motor vehicle density patterns. *Breast Cancer Res Treat*. 2012;132(1):327-333. doi:10.1007/s10549-011-1861-z
- Keramatinia A, Hassanipour S, Nazarzadeh M, et al. Correlation Between Nitrogen Dioxide as an Air Pollution Indicator and Breast Cancer: a Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Asian Pacific journal of cancer prevention : APJCP*. 2016;17(1):419-424.

- Reding KW, Young MT, Szpiro AA, et al. Breast Cancer Risk in Relation to Ambient Air Pollution Exposure at Residences in the Sister Study Cohort. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* 2015;24(12):1907-1909. doi:10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-15-0787
- 16. Hystad P, Villeneuve PJ, Goldberg MS, Crouse DL, Johnson K, Canadian Cancer Registries Epidemiology Research Group. Exposure to traffic-related air pollution and the risk of developing breast cancer among women in eight Canadian provinces: a case-control study. *Environ Int.* 2015;74:240-248. doi:10.1016/j.envint.2014.09.004
- Coughlin SS, Smith SA. The Impact of the Natural, Social, Built, and Policy Environments on Breast Cancer. *J Environ Health Sci.* 2015;1(3). Accessed November 8, 2019. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4597477/
- O'Callaghan-Gordo C, Kogevinas M, Cirach M, et al. Residential proximity to green spaces and breast cancer risk: The multicase-control study in Spain (MCC-Spain). *International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health*. 2018;221(8):1097-1106. doi:10.1016/j.ijheh.2018.07.014
- Ghatar SA, Meshkini A, Roknoldin Eftekhari AR, Mostafavi E, Reveshty MA. Explanation of Relationship between Urban Walkability and Death Spatial Distribution caused by Colorectal and Breast Cancer. *The Journal of Spatial Planning*. 2017;21(3):55-94.
- 20. Papas MA, Alberg AJ, Ewing R, Helzlsouer KJ, Gary TL, Klassen AC. The built environment and obesity. *Epidemiol Rev.* 2007;29:129-143. doi:10.1093/epirev/mxm009
- 21. Cheng I, Shariff-Marco S, Koo J, et al. Contribution of the Neighborhood Environment and Obesity to Breast Cancer Survival: The California Breast Cancer Survivorship Consortium.

*Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* 2015;24(8):1282-1290. doi:10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-15-0055

- Maliniak ML, Patel AV, McCullough ML, et al. Obesity, physical activity, and breast cancer survival among older breast cancer survivors in the Cancer Prevention Study-II Nutrition Cohort. *Breast Cancer Res Treat*. 2018;167(1):133-145. doi:10.1007/s10549-017-4470-7
- Thune I, Furberg AS. Physical activity and cancer risk: dose-response and cancer, all sites and site-specific. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*. 2001;33(6 Suppl):S530-50; discussion S609-10. doi:10.1097/00005768-200106001-00025
- 24. BC Cancer Agency. Statistics by Cancer Type. Accessed April 28, 2020. http://www.bccancer.bc.ca/health-info/disease-system-statistics/statistics-by-cancer-type
- 25. National Cancer Institute. What Is Cancer? National Cancer Institute. Published September 17, 2007. Accessed April 27, 2020. https://www.cancer.gov/aboutcancer/understanding/what-is-cancer
- BC Cancer Agency. Breast Cancer. Accessed September 16, 2020. http://www.bccancer.bc.ca/health-info/types-of-cancer/breast-cancer#Diagnosis--&-staging
- American Cancer Society. Glossary: Definitions & Phonetic Pronunciations. Accessed September 16, 2020. https://www.cancer.org/cancer/glossary.html

- National Cancer Institute. Definition of premalignant. Published February 2, 2011. Accessed September 16, 2020. https://www.cancer.gov/publications/dictionaries/cancerterms/def/premalignant
- Canadian Cancer Society. Stages of breast cancer. www.cancer.ca. Accessed September 16, 2020. https://www.cancer.ca:443/en/cancer-information/cancertype/breast/staging/?region=on
- Cancer.net. Breast Cancer Stages. Cancer.Net. Published June 25, 2012. Accessed September 16, 2020. https://www.cancer.net/cancer-types/breast-cancer/stages
- National Cancer Institute. Cancer Staging. Published September 3, 2015. Accessed September 16, 2020. https://www.cancer.gov/about-cancer/diagnosis-staging/staging
- 32. Canadian Cancer Society. What is breast cancer? www.cancer.ca. Accessed April 27, 2020. https://www.cancer.ca:443/en/cancer-information/cancer-type/breast/breastcancer/?region=bc
- Tao Z, Shi A, Lu C, Song T, Zhang Z, Zhao J. Breast Cancer: Epidemiology and Etiology. *Cell Biochem Biophys.* 2015;72(2):333-338. doi:10.1007/s12013-014-0459-6
- BreastCancer.org. Molecular Subtypes of Breast Cancer. Breastcancer.org. Published January 21, 2020. Accessed April 28, 2020. https://www.breastcancer.org/symptoms/types/molecular-subtypes
- 35. Dai X, Li T, Bai Z, et al. Breast cancer intrinsic subtype classification, clinical use and future trends. *Am J Cancer Res.* 2015;5(10):2929-2943.

- 36. Winters S, Martin C, Murphy D, Shokar NK. Chapter One Breast Cancer Epidemiology, Prevention, and Screening. In: Lakshmanaswamy R, ed. *Progress in Molecular Biology and Translational Science*. Vol 151. Approaches to Understanding Breast Cancer. Academic Press; 2017:1-32. doi:10.1016/bs.pmbts.2017.07.002
- 37. American Cancer Society. How Common Is Breast Cancer? | Breast Cancer Statistics. Accessed April 28, 2020. https://www.cancer.org/cancer/breast-cancer/about/howcommon-is-breast-cancer.html
- Breast cancer statistics. World Cancer Research Fund. Published September 16, 2014. Accessed July 28, 2020. https://www.wcrf.org/int/cancer-facts-figures/data-specificcancers/breast-cancer-statistics
- The World Health Organization. Breast cancer: prevention and control. WHO. Accessed April 28, 2020. http://www.who.int/cancer/detection/breastcancer/en/
- Coleman MP, Quaresma M, Berrino F, et al. Cancer survival in five continents: a worldwide population-based study (CONCORD). *Lancet Oncol.* 2008;9(8):730-756. doi:10.1016/S1470-2045(08)70179-7
- 41. Canadian Cancer Society. Risk factors for breast cancer. www.cancer.ca. Accessed April 27, 2020. https://www.cancer.ca:443/en/cancer-information/cancer-type/breast/risks/?region=bc
- 42. Rojas K, Stuckey A. Breast Cancer Epidemiology and Risk Factors. *Clinical Obstetrics and Gynecology*. 2016;59(4):651-672. doi:10.1097/GRF.00000000000239

- 43. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. What Are the Risk Factors for Breast Cancer? Published January 13, 2020. Accessed April 29, 2020. https://www.cdc.gov/cancer/breast/basic\_info/risk\_factors.htm
- Petrucelli N, Daly MB, Pal T. BRCA1- and BRCA2-Associated Hereditary Breast and Ovarian Cancer. In: Adam MP, Ardinger HH, Pagon RA, et al., eds. *GeneReviews*®. University of Washington, Seattle; 1993. Accessed September 16, 2020. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK1247/
- 45. American Cancer Society. Breast Cancer Facts & Figures 2017-2018. :44.
- 46. Collaborative Group on Hormonal Factors in Breast Cancer. Menarche, menopause, and breast cancer risk: individual participant meta-analysis, including 118 964 women with breast cancer from 117 epidemiological studies. *Lancet Oncol.* 2012;13(11):1141-1151. doi:10.1016/S1470-2045(12)70425-4
- 47. MacMahon B, Cole P, Lin TM, et al. Age at first birth and breast cancer risk. *Bull World Health Organ.* 1970;43(2):209-221.
- Bernstein L. Epidemiology of Endocrine-Related Risk Factors for Breast Cancer. J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia. 2002;7(1):3-15. doi:10.1023/A:1015714305420
- Chen WY, Rosner B, Hankinson SE, Colditz GA, Willett WC. Moderate Alcohol Consumption During Adult Life, Drinking Patterns, and Breast Cancer Risk. *JAMA*. 2011;306(17):1884-1890. doi:10.1001/jama.2011.1590

- Begum P, Richardson CE, Carmichael AR. Obesity in post menopausal women with a family history of breast cancer: prevalence and risk awareness. *International Seminars in Surgical Oncology*. 2009;6(1):1. doi:10.1186/1477-7800-6-1
- 51. Smith D, Thomson K, Bambra C, Todd A. The breast cancer paradox: A systematic review of the association between area-level deprivation and breast cancer screening uptake in Europe. *Cancer Epidemiol.* 2019;60:77-85. doi:10.1016/j.canep.2019.03.008
- Levi F, Lucchini F, Negri E, Vecchia CL. Trends in mortality from major cancers in the European Union, including acceding countries, in 2004. *Cancer*. 2004;101(12):2843-2850. doi:10.1002/cncr.20666
- Borugian MJ, Spinelli JJ, Abanto Z, Xu CL, Wilkins R. Breast cancer incidence and neighbourhood income. *Health Rep.* 2011;22(2):7-13.
- 54. Adami HO, Hansen J, Jung B, Rimsten AJ. Age at first birth, parity and risk of breast cancer in a Swedish population. *Br J Cancer*. 1980;42(5):651-658.
- 55. Hoffimann E, Barros H, Ribeiro AI. Socioeconomic Inequalities in Green Space Quality and Accessibility—Evidence from a Southern European City. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2017;14(8). doi:10.3390/ijerph14080916
- Hajat A, Hsia C, O'Neill MS. Socioeconomic Disparities and Air Pollution Exposure: A Global Review. *Curr Environ Health Rep.* 2015;2(4):440-450. doi:10.1007/s40572-015-0069-5

- 57. Lyle G, Hendrie GA, Hendrie D. Understanding the effects of socioeconomic status along the breast cancer continuum in Australian women: a systematic review of evidence. *Int J Equity Health.* 2017;16. doi:10.1186/s12939-017-0676-x
- Booth KM, Pinkston MM, Poston WSC. Obesity and the Built Environment. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*. 2005;105(5, Supplement):110-117. doi:10.1016/j.jada.2005.02.045
- 59. Andersen ZJ, Stafoggia M, Weinmayr G, et al. Long-Term Exposure to Ambient Air Pollution and Incidence of Postmenopausal Breast Cancer in 15 European Cohorts within the ESCAPE Project. *Environ Health Perspect*. 2017;125(10):107005. doi:10.1289/EHP1742
- Kampa M, Castanas E. Human health effects of air pollution. *Environmental Pollution*.
  2008;151(2):362-367. doi:10.1016/j.envpol.2007.06.012
- Shmuel S, White AJ, Sandler DP. Residential exposure to vehicular traffic-related air pollution during childhood and breast cancer risk. *Environ Res.* 2017;159:257-263. doi:10.1016/j.envres.2017.08.015
- 62. World Health Organization International Agency for Cancer Research. Accessed November 11, 2019. http://gco.iarc.fr/today/fact-sheets-cancers
- 63. Hatzopoulou M, Weichenthal S, Dugum H, et al. The impact of traffic volume, composition, and road geometry on personal air pollution exposures among cyclists in Montreal, Canada. *Journal of Exposure Science & Environmental Epidemiology*. 2013;23(1):46-51. doi:10.1038/jes.2012.85

- 64. Hamra GB, Laden F, Cohen AJ, Raaschou-Nielsen O, Brauer M, Loomis D. Lung Cancer and Exposure to Nitrogen Dioxide and Traffic: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Environmental Health Perspectives*. 2015;123(11):1107-1112. doi:10.1289/ehp.1408882
- Chen F, Jackson H, Bina WF. Lung adenocarcinoma incidence rates and their relation to motor vehicle density. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev*. 2009;18(3):760-764. doi:10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-08-0741
- White AJ, Bradshaw PT, Hamra GB. Air pollution and Breast Cancer: A Review. *Curr Epidemiol Rep.* 2018;5(2):92-100. doi:10.1007/s40471-018-0143-2
- Batterman S, Burke J, Isakov V, Lewis T, Mukherjee B, Robins T. A Comparison of Exposure Metrics for Traffic-Related Air Pollutants: Application to Epidemiology Studies in Detroit, Michigan. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. 2014;11(9):9553-9577. doi:10.3390/ijerph110909553
- Feng J, Glass TA, Curriero FC, Stewart WF, Schwartz BS. The built environment and obesity: A systematic review of the epidemiologic evidence. *Health & Place*. 2010;16(2):175-190. doi:10.1016/j.healthplace.2009.09.008
- Sundquist K, Eriksson U, Kawakami N, Skog L, Ohlsson H, Arvidsson D. Neighborhood walkability, physical activity, and walking behavior: The Swedish Neighborhood and Physical Activity (SNAP) study. *Social Science & Medicine*. 2011;72(8):1266-1273. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2011.03.004

- 70. Buck C, Tkaczick T, Pitsiladis Y, et al. Objective Measures of the Built Environment and Physical Activity in Children: From Walkability to Moveability. *J Urban Health*. 2015;92(1):24-38. doi:10.1007/s11524-014-9915-2
- 71. Bai H, MacInnes M, Shashank A, Wong T, Ma H. Risk analysis of breast cancer survivorship in Metro Vancouver. :27.
- 72. Mayne DJ, Morgan GG, Willmore A, et al. An objective index of walkability for research and planning in the Sydney Metropolitan Region of New South Wales, Australia: an ecological study. *Int J Health Geogr.* 2013;12:61. doi:10.1186/1476-072X-12-61
- 73. Zhang L, Tan PY. Associations between Urban Green Spaces and Health are Dependent on the Analytical Scale and How Urban Green Spaces are Measured. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. 2019;16(4). doi:10.3390/ijerph16040578
- 74. Canadian Urban Environmental Health Research Consortium. Green/Blue Space. CANUE. Accessed May 2, 2020. https://canue.ca/greenness/
- 75. Internation Agency for Research on Cancer. Agents Classified by the IARC Monographs, Volumes 1–125 – IARC Monographs on the Identification of Carcinogenic Hazards to Humans. Accessed May 1, 2020. https://monographs.iarc.fr/agents-classified-by-the-iarc/
- 76. Sievers CK, Shanle EK, Bradfield CA, Xu W. Differential action of monohydroxylated polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons with estrogen receptors α and β. *Toxicol Sci*. 2013;132(2):359-367. doi:10.1093/toxsci/kfs287

- Byrne C, Divekar SD, Storchan GB, Parodi DA, Martin MB. Metals and breast cancer. J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia. 2013;18(1):63-73. doi:10.1007/s10911-013-9273-9
- Huff JE, Haseman JK, DeMarini DM, et al. Multiple-site carcinogenicity of benzene in Fischer 344 rats and B6C3F1 mice. *Environ Health Perspect*. 1989;82:125-163. doi:10.1289/ehp.8982125
- 79. Chen S-T, Lin C-C, Liu Y-S, et al. Airborne particulate collected from central Taiwan induces DNA strand breaks, Poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase-1 activation, and estrogendisrupting activity in human breast carcinoma cell lines. *J Environ Sci Health A Tox Hazard Subst Environ Eng.* 2013;48(2):173-181. doi:10.1080/10934529.2012.717809
- Bonner MR, Han D, Nie J, et al. Breast cancer risk and exposure in early life to polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons using total suspended particulates as a proxy measure. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* 2005;14(1):53-60.
- Hart JE, Bertrand KA, DuPre N, et al. Long-term Particulate Matter Exposures during Adulthood and Risk of Breast Cancer Incidence in the Nurses' Health Study II Prospective Cohort. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev*. 2016;25(8):1274-1276. doi:10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-16-0246
- 82. Sallis JF, Glanz K. The Role of Built Environments in Physical Activity, Eating, and Obesity in Childhood. *The Future of Children*. 2006;16(1):89-108.
- Frank LD, Engelke PO. The Built Environment and Human Activity Patterns: Exploring the Impacts of Urban Form on Public Health. *Journal of Planning Literature*. 2001;16(2):202-218. doi:10.1177/08854120122093339

- Saelens BE, Sallis JF, Black JB, Chen D. Neighborhood-Based Differences in Physical Activity: An Environment Scale Evaluation. *Am J Public Health*. 2003;93(9):1552-1558.
- Rahman T, Cushing RA, Jackson RJ. Contributions of Built Environment to Childhood Obesity. *Mount Sinai Journal of Medicine: A Journal of Translational and Personalized Medicine*. 2011;78(1):49-57. doi:https://doi.org/10.1002/msj.20235
- Ligibel J. Obesity and breast cancer. Oncology. Published October 1, 2011. Accessed January 12, 2020. https://link-galegroupcom.ezproxy.library.ubc.ca/apps/doc/A306598666/HRCA?sid=lms
- Engin A. Obesity-associated Breast Cancer: Analysis of risk factors. *Adv Exp Med Biol*.
  2017;960:571-606. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-48382-5\_25
- Pierce JP, Stefanick ML, Flatt SW, et al. Greater Survival After Breast Cancer in Physically Active Women With High Vegetable-Fruit Intake Regardless of Obesity. *J Clin Oncol.* 2007;25(17):2345-2351. doi:10.1200/JCO.2006.08.6819
- Picon-Ruiz M, Morata-Tarifa C, Valle-Goffin JJ, Friedman ER, Slingerland JM. Obesity and adverse breast cancer risk and outcome: Mechanistic insights and strategies for intervention. *CA Cancer J Clin.* 2017;67(5):378-397. doi:10.3322/caac.21405
- Owen N, Cerin E, Leslie E, et al. Neighborhood Walkability and the Walking Behavior of Australian Adults. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*. 2007;33(5):387-395. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2007.07.025

- 91. Frank LD, Andresen MA, Schmid TL. Obesity relationships with community design, physical activity, and time spent in cars. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*. 2004;27(2):87-96. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2004.04.011
- 92. Ghimire R, Ferreira S, Green GT, Poudyal NC, Cordell HK, Thapa JR. Green Space and Adult Obesity in the United States. *Ecological Economics*. 2017;136:201-212. doi:10.1016/j.ecolecon.2017.02.002
- Frank L, Hong A, Ngo V. Causal evaluation of urban greenway retrofit: A longitudinal study on physical activity and sedentary behavior. *Preventive Medicine*. 2019;123. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2019.01.011
- 94. Frank L, Sandhu J, Adhikari B, et al. Where Matters: Health & Economic Impacts of Where We Live. Accessed February 23, 2021. https://health-design.spph.ubc.ca/research/currentresearch/health-wellbeing-economic-benefits-study/
- Dhalla A, McDonald TE, Gallagher RP, et al. Cohort Profile: The British Columbia Generations Project (BCGP). *Int J Epidemiol*. doi:10.1093/ije/dyy160
- 96. BC Cancer Research Centre. BC Generations Project. Accessed January 12, 2020. https://www.bcgenerationsproject.ca/
- 97. Craig CL, Marshall AL, Sjöström M, et al. International physical activity questionnaire: 12country reliability and validity. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*. 2003;35(8):1381-1395. doi:10.1249/01.MSS.0000078924.61453.FB

- CANUE Data. Canadian Urban Environmental Health Research Consortium. Accessed January 12, 2020. https://canue.ca/data/
- 99. Chen G, Wan X, Yang G, Zou X. Traffic-related air pollution and lung cancer: A metaanalysis. *Thorac Cancer*. 2015;6(3):307-318. doi:10.1111/1759-7714.12185
- 100. Government of Canada SC. Census Profile, 2016 Census British Columbia [Province] and Canada [Country]. Published February 8, 2017. Accessed June 12, 2020. https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/dppd/prof/details/page.cfm?Lang=E&Geo1=PR&Code1=59&Geo2=PR&Code2=01&Search Text=Canada&SearchType=Begins&SearchPR=01&B1=All&type=0
- 101. Apple Maps, Apple Inc. Map of the Lower Mainland of BC.
- 102. Government of Canada SC. Census Profile, 2016 Census Fraser Valley, Regional district [Census division], British Columbia and British Columbia [Province]. Published February 8, 2017. Accessed June 12, 2020. https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/censusrecensement/2016/dppd/prof/details/page.cfm?Lang=E&Geo1=CD&Code1=5909&Geo2=PR&Code2=59&Data =Count&SearchText=fraser%20valley&SearchType=Begins&SearchPR=01&B1=All&TA BID=1
- 103. Government of Canada SC. Census Profile, 2016 Census Greater Vancouver, Regional district [Census division], British Columbia and British Columbia [Province]. Published February 8, 2017. Accessed June 12, 2020. https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/censusrecensement/2016/dp-
pd/prof/details/page.cfm?Lang=E&Geo1=CD&Code1=5915&Geo2=PR&Code2=59&Data =Count&SearchText=Greater%20Vancouver&SearchType=Begins&SearchPR=01&B1=Vi sible%20minority&TABID=1

- 104. Gao X, Fisher SG, Emami B. Risk of second primary cancer in the contralateral breast in women treated for early-stage breast cancer: a population-based study. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys.* 2003;56(4):1038-1045. doi:10.1016/s0360-3016(03)00203-7
- 105. Trentham-Dietz A, Newcomb PA, Nichols HB, Hampton JM. Breast cancer risk factors and second primary malignancies among women with breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Res Treat*. 2007;105(2):195-207. doi:10.1007/s10549-006-9446-y
- 106. Lee JM, Buist DSM, Houssami N, et al. Five-Year Risk of Interval-Invasive Second Breast Cancer. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* 2015;107(7). doi:10.1093/jnci/djv109
- 107. Ricceri F, Fasanelli F, Giraudo MT, et al. Risk of second primary malignancies in women with breast cancer: Results from the European prospective investigation into cancer and nutrition (EPIC). *Int J Cancer*. 2015;137(4):940-948. doi:10.1002/ijc.29462
- 108. American Cancer Society. Second Cancers Related to Treatment. Accessed September 1, 2020. https://www.cancer.org/treatment/treatments-and-side-effects/physical-sideeffects/second-cancers-in-adults/treatment-risks.html
- 109. Skin Cancer Foundation. Skin Cancer Facts & Statistics. The Skin Cancer Foundation. Accessed September 7, 2020. https://www.skincancer.org/skin-cancer-information/skincancer-facts/

- 110. American Cancer Society. Treating Basal & Squamous Cell Skin Cancer Squamous Cell Treatment. Accessed September 7, 2020. https://www.cancer.org/cancer/basal-andsquamous-cell-skin-cancer/treating.html
- 111. Fenga C. Occupational exposure and risk of breast cancer. *Biomed Rep.* 2016;4(3):282-292.doi:10.3892/br.2016.575
- 112. Phipps AI, Ichikawa L, Bowles EJA, et al. Defining Menopausal Status in Epidemiologic
   Studies: A Comparison of Multiple Approaches and their Effects on Breast Cancer Rates.
   *Maturitas*. 2010;67(1):60-66. doi:10.1016/j.maturitas.2010.04.015
- 113. R Core Team. *R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing*. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria.; 2013. http://www.R-project.org/
- 114. Microsoft Corporation. *Microsoft Excel.*; 2020.
- 115. American Cancer Society. Normal Weight Ranges: Body Mass Index (BMI). Accessed October 29, 2020. https://www.cancer.org/cancer/cancer-causes/diet-physicalactivity/body-weight-and-cancer-risk/adult-bmi.html
- 116. IPAQ scoring protocol International Physical Activity Questionnaire. Accessed January19, 2021. https://sites.google.com/site/theipaq/scoring-protocol
- 117. The World Health Organization. *Global Physical Activity Questionnaire (GPAQ) Analysis Guide*.
- 118. Canadian Urban Environmental Health Research Consortium. Air Quality. CANUE. Accessed May 2, 2020. https://canue.ca/air-quality/

- 119. Rhew IC, Stoep AV, Kearney A, Smith NL, Dunbar MD. Validation of the Normalized Difference Vegetation Index as a measure of neighborhood greenness. *Ann Epidemiol*. 2011;21(12):946-952. doi:10.1016/j.annepidem.2011.09.001
- 120. Tamosiunas A, Grazuleviciene R, Luksiene D, et al. Accessibility and use of urban green spaces, and cardiovascular health: findings from a Kaunas cohort study. *Environ Health*. 2014;13(1):20. doi:10.1186/1476-069X-13-20
- 121. Spruance SL, Reid JE, Grace M, Samore M. Hazard Ratio in Clinical Trials. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*. 2004;48(8):2787-2792. doi:10.1128/AAC.48.8.2787-2792.2004
- 122. Zwiener I, Blettner M, Hommel G. Survival Analysis. *Dtsch Arztebl Int*. 2011;108(10):163-169. doi:10.3238/arztebl.2011.0163
- 123. Ranganathan P, Pramesh CS. Censoring in survival analysis: Potential for bias. Perspect Clin Res. 2012;3(1):40. doi:10.4103/2229-3485.92307
- 124. Andersen ZJ, Raaschou-Nielsen O, Ketzel M, et al. Diabetes incidence and long-term exposure to air pollution: a cohort study. *Diabetes Care*. 2012;35(1):92-98. doi:10.2337/dc11-1155
- 125. Marshall JD, Brauer M, Frank LD. Healthy Neighborhoods: Walkability and Air Pollution. *Environ Health Perspect*. 2009;117(11):1752-1759. doi:10.1289/ehp.0900595
- 126. Danish Centre for Environment and Energy. Conversion between u/m3 and ppb. Accessed January 20, 2021. https://dce.au.dk/en/

- 127. The Government of Canada E and CC. International comparison of urban air quality. aem.
  Published May 11, 2012. Accessed December 20, 2020.
  https://www.canada.ca/en/environment-climate-change/services/environmentalindicators/international-comparison-urban-air-quality.html
- 128. Howell Nicholas A., Tu Jack V., Moineddin Rahim, Chu Anna, Booth Gillian L. Association Between Neighborhood Walkability and Predicted 10-Year Cardiovascular Disease Risk: The CANHEART (Cardiovascular Health in Ambulatory Care Research Team) Cohort. *Journal of the American Heart Association*. 2019;8(21):e013146. doi:10.1161/JAHA.119.013146
- 129. Loo CKJ, Greiver M, Aliarzadeh B, Lewis D. Association between neighbourhood walkability and metabolic risk factors influenced by physical activity: a cross-sectional study of adults in Toronto, Canada. *BMJ Open*. 2017;7(4):e013889. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2016-013889
- 130. Lefebvre-Ropars G, Morency C. Walkability: Which Measure to Choose, Where to Measure It, and How? *Transportation Research Record*. 2018;2672(35):139-150. doi:10.1177/0361198118787095
- 131. Cambra P, Moura F. How does walkability change relate to walking behavior change?
  Effects of a street improvement in pedestrian volumes and walking experience. *Journal of Transport & Health.* 2020;16:100797. doi:10.1016/j.jth.2019.100797

- 132. Colley RC, Christidis T, Michaud I, Tjepkema M, Ross NA. The association between walkable neighbourhoods and physical activity across the lifespan. *Health Rep*. 2019;30(9):3-13. doi:10.25318/82-003-x201900900001-eng
- 133. Maas J, Verheij RA, Spreeuwenberg P, Groenewegen PP. Physical activity as a possible mechanism behind the relationship between green space and health: A multilevel analysis. *BMC Public Health.* 2008;8(1):206. doi:10.1186/1471-2458-8-206
- 134. Ord K, Mitchell R, Pearce J. Is level of neighbourhood green space associated with physical activity in green space? *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*. 2013;10(1):127. doi:10.1186/1479-5868-10-127
- 135. US Census Bureau. Calculating Migration Expectancy Using ACS Data. The United States Census Bureau. Accessed February 6, 2021. https://www.census.gov/topics/population/migration/guidance/calculating-migrationexpectancy.html
- 136. Government of Canada SC. First results from the Canadian Housing Survey, 2018.
  Published November 22, 2019. Accessed February 6, 2021.
  https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/daily-quotidien/191122/dq191122c-eng.htm
- 137. Frank LD, Sallis JF, Saelens BE, et al. The development of a walkability index: application to the Neighborhood Quality of Life Study. *Br J Sports Med*. 2010;44(13):924-933. doi:10.1136/bjsm.2009.058701

- 138. Yin L. Street level urban design qualities for walkability: Combining 2D and 3D GIS measures. *Computers, Environment and Urban Systems*. 2017;64:288-296. doi:10.1016/j.compenvurbsys.2017.04.001
- 139. The United Nations. 68% of the world population projected to live in urban areas by 2050, says UN. UN DESA | United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs.
- 140. Sarkar C, Webster C. Urban environments and human health: current trends and future directions. *Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability*. 2017;25:33-44. doi:10.1016/j.cosust.2017.06.001
- 141. Rydin Y, Bleahu A, Davies M, et al. Shaping cities for health: complexity and the planning of urban environments in the 21st century. *Lancet*. 2012;379(9831):2079-2108. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(12)60435-8
- 142. Canadian Cancer Society. Air pollution and cancer. www.cancer.ca. Accessed April 1, 2021. https://www.cancer.ca:443/en/prevention-and-screening/reduce-cancer-risk/makeinformed-decisions/know-your-environment/air-pollution-and-cancer/?region=on
- 143. Gan WQ, Tamburic L, Davies HW, Demers PA, Koehoorn M, Brauer M. Changes in Residential Proximity to Road Traffic and the Risk of Death From Coronary Heart Disease. *Epidemiology*. 2010;21(5):642-649.
- 144. James P, Banay RF, Hart JE, Laden F. A Review of the Health Benefits of Greenness. Curr Epidemiol Rep. 2015;2(2):131-142. doi:10.1007/s40471-015-0043-7

- 145. Ulrich R. Stress recovery during exposure to natural and urban environments. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*. 1991;11(3):201-230. doi:10.1016/S0272-4944(05)80184-7
- 146. Frank LD, Sallis JF, Conway TL, Chapman JE, Saelens BE, Bachman W. Many Pathways from Land Use to Health: Associations between Neighborhood Walkability and Active Transportation, Body Mass Index, and Air Quality. *Journal of the American Planning Association*. 2006;72(1):75-87. doi:10.1080/01944360608976725
- 147. C40. C40 Cities. Accessed February 23, 2021. https://www.c40.org/
- 148. Coughlin SS, King J. Breast and cervical cancer screening among women in metropolitan areas of the United States by county-level commuting time to work and use of public transportation, 2004 and 2006. *BMC Public Health*. 2010;10:146. doi:10.1186/1471-2458-10-146

## Appendices

## Appendix A: Supplementary tables

## Table A1: 3-digit postal code FSA

Name	Description/ City Name	Code	Region	Province	Country
Abbotsford East	Port Coquitlam	V3G	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
Abbotsford Southeast	Abbotsford	V2S	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
Abbotsford Southwest	Abbotsford	V2T	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
Abbotsford West Burnaby (Burnaby Heights / Willingdon Heights / West Central	Abbotsford	V4X	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
Valley) Burnaby (Cascade-Schou /	Burnaby	V5C	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
Douglas-Gilpin) Burnaby (East Big Bend / Stride Avenue / Edmonds / Cariboo-	Burnaby	V5G	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
Armstrong) Burnaby (Government Road / Lake	Burnaby	V3N	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
City / SFU / Burnaby Mountain) Burnaby (Lakeview-Mayfield / Richmond Park / Kingsway-	Burnaby	V5A	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
Beresford) Burnaby (Maywood / Marlborough	Burnaby	V5E	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
/ Oakalla / Windsor) Burnaby (Parkcrest-Aubrey /	Burnaby	V5H	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
Ardingley-Sprott) Burnaby (Suncrest / Sussex-Nelson / Clinton-Glenwood / West Big	Burnaby	V5B	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
Bend)	Burnaby	V5J	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
Chilliwack Central	Chilliwack	V2P	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
Chilliwack East	Chilliwack	V4Z	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
Chilliwack West	Chilliwack	V2R	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
Coquitlam North	Coquitlam	V3J	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
Coquitlam South	Coquitlam	V3K	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
Delta Central	Delta	V4K	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
Delta East	Delta	V4E	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
Delta East Central	Delta	V4G	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
Delta Northeast	Delta	V4C	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
Delta Southeast	Delta	V4L	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
Delta Southwest	Delta	V4M	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
Harrison Lake Region (Agassiz)	NA	V0M	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada

Langley City	Langley Langley	V3A	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
Langley Township East	Township	V4W	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
Langley Township North	Chilliwack Langley	V1M	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
Langley Township Northwest	Township	V2Y	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
Langley Township Southwest	Township	V2Z	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
Maple Ridge East	Maple Ridge	V2W	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
Maple Ridge Northwest	Maple Ridge	V4R	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
Maple Ridge West	Maple Ridge	V2X	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
Mission East	Maple Ridge	V2V	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
Mission West	Mission New	V4S	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
New Westminster Northeast New Westminster Southwest	Westminster New	V3L	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
(Includes Annacis Island) North Island, Sunshine Coast, and	Westminster	V3M	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
Southern Gulf Islands (Whistler)	NA	V0N	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
North Vancouver East Central	Vancouver	V7J	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
North Vancouver Inner East	Vancouver	V7H	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
North Vancouver North Central	Vancouver	V7K	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
North Vancouver Northwest North Vancouver Northwest	Vancouver	V7R	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
Central	Vancouver	V7N	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
North Vancouver Outer East	Vancouver	V7G	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
North Vancouver South Central	Vancouver	V7L	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
North Vancouver Southwest North Vancouver Southwest	Vancouver	V7P	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
Central	Vancouver	V7M	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
Pitt Meadows	Pitt Meadows	V3Y	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
Port Coquitlam Central	Port Coquitlam	V3B	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
Port Coquitlam North	Port Coquitlam	V3E	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
Port Coquitlam South	Port Coquitlam	V3C	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
Port Moody	Port Moody	V3H	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
Richmond (Sea Island / YVR)	Richmond	V7B	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
Richmond Central	Richmond	V6Y	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
Richmond North	Richmond	V6X	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
Richmond Northeast	Richmond	V6V	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
Richmond South	Richmond	V7A	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
Richmond Southeast	Richmond	V6W	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
Richmond Southwest	Richmond	V7E	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
Richmond West	Richmond Langley	V7C	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
Similkameen (Hope)	Township	V0X	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada

Squamish	Squamish	V8B	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
Surrey	Surrey	V3Z	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
Surrey East	Surrey	V3S	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
Surrey Inner Northwest	Surrey	V3T	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
Surrey Lower West	Surrey	V3X	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
Surrey North	Surrey	V3R	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
Surrey Northeast	Surrey	V4N	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
Surrey Outer Northwest	Surrey	V3V	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
Surrey South	Surrey	V4P	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
Surrey Southwest	Surrey	V4A	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
Surrey Upper West	Surrey	V3W	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
Vancouver (Bentall Centre)	Vancouver	V7X	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
Vancouver (Central Kitsilano) Vancouver (Chaldecutt / South	Vancouver	V6K	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
University Endowment Lands) Vancouver (Dunbar-Southlands /	Vancouver	V6S	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
Musqueam) Vancouver (East Fairview / South	Vancouver	V6N	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
Cambie)	Vancouver	V5Z	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
Vancouver (East Mount Pleasant)	Vancouver	V5T	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
Vancouver (Killarney) Vancouver (NE Downtown / Harbour Centre / Gastown /	Vancouver	V5S	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
Yaletown) Vancouver (North Grandview-	Vancouver	V6B	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
Woodlands) Vancouver (North Hastings-	Vancouver	V5L	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
Sunrise) Vancouver (North West End /	Vancouver	V5K	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
Stanley Park)	Vancouver	V6G	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
Vancouver (NW Arbutus Ridge) Vancouver (NW Shaughnessy /	Vancouver	V6L	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
East Kitsilano / Quilchena)	Vancouver	V6J	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
Vancouver (Pacific Centre) Vancouver (SE Kensington /	Vancouver	V7Y	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
Victoria-Fraserview) Vancouver (SE Kerrisdale / SW	Vancouver	V5P	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
Oakridge / West Marpole) Vancouver (SE Oakridge / East	Vancouver	V6P	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
Marpole / South Sunset) Vancouver (SE Riley Park-Little Mountain / SW Kensington / NE	Vancouver	V5X	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
Oakridge / North Sunset) Vancouver (South Grandview-	Vancouver	V5W	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
Woodlands / NE Kensington) Vancouver (South Hastings-Sunrise	Vancouver	V5N	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
/ North Renfrew-Collingwood) Vancouver (South Renfrew-	Vancouver	V5M	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
Collingwood)	Vancouver	V5R	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada

Vancouver (South Shaughnessy / NW Oakridge / NE Kerrisdale / SE Arbutus Ridge)	Vancouver	V6M	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
Vancouver (South West End)	Vancouver	V6E	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
/ Downtown Eastside)	Vancouver	V6A	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
Vancouver (SW Downtown)	Vancouver	V6Z	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
Vancouver (UBC)	Vancouver	V6T	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
Vancouver (Waterfront / Coal Harbour / Canada Place) Vancouver (West Fairview /	Vancouver	V6C	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
Granville Island / NE Shaughnessy) Vancouver (West Kensington / NE	Vancouver	V6H	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
Riley Park-Little Mountain) Vancouver (West Kitsilano /	Vancouver	V5V	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
Jericho)	Vancouver	V6R	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
Vancouver (West Mount Pleasant / West Riley Park-Little Mountain)	Vancouver	V5Y	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
West Vancouver North	Vancouver	V7S	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
West Vancouver South	Vancouver	V7V	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
West Vancouver Southeast	Vancouver	V7T	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
West Vancouver West	Vancouver	V7W	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
Whistler	Whistler	V8E	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
White Rock	White Rock	V4B	Lower Mainland	BC	Canada
Atlin Region (Atlin)		V0W	Other region	BC	Canada
Campbell River Central	Campbell River	V9W	Other region	BC	Canada
Campbell River Outskirts	Campbell River	V9H	Other region	BC	Canada
Cariboo and West Okanagan (100 M	ile House)	V0K	Other region	BC	Canada
Castlegar		V1N	Other region	BC	Canada
Cedar		V9X	Other region	BC	Canada
Central Island (Chemainus)		V0R	Other region	BC	Canada
Central Okanagan and High Country	(Revelstoke)	V0E	Other region	BC	Canada
Central Saanich		V8M	Other region	BC	Canada
Chilcotin (Alexis Creek)		V0L	Other region	BC	Canada
Comox		V9M	Other region	BC	Canada
Courtenay Central	Courtenay	V9N	Other region	BC	Canada
Courtenay Northern Outskirts	Courtenay	V9J	Other region	BC	Canada
Cranbrook		V1C	Other region	BC	Canada
Dawson Creek		V1G	Other region	BC	Canada
Duncan		V9L	Other region	BC	Canada
East Kootenays (Fernie)		V0B	Other region	BC	Canada
Esquimalt		V9A	Other region	BC	Canada
Fort St. John		V1J	Other region	BC	Canada
Highlands		V9B	Other region	BC	Canada

Inside Passage and the Queen Char Charlotte City)	lottes (Queen	V0T	Other region	BC	Canada
Juan de Fuca Shore (Sooke)		V0S	Other region	BC	Canada
Kamloops Central and Southeast	Kamloops	V2C	Other region	BC	Canada
Kamloops North	Kamloops	V2H	Other region	BC	Canada
Kamloops Northwest	Kamloops	V2B	Other region	BC	Canada
Kamloops South and West	Kamloops	V2E	Other region	BC	Canada
Kamloops Southwest		V1S	Other region	BC	Canada
Kelowna Central	Kelowna	V1Y	Other region	BC	Canada
Kelowna East	Kelowna	V1P	Other region	BC	Canada
Kelowna East Central	Kelowna	V1X	Other region	BC	Canada
Kelowna North	Kelowna	V1V	Other region	BC	Canada
Kelowna Southwest	Kelowna	V1W	Other region	BC	Canada
Kelowna West	Kelowna	V1Z	Other region	BC	Canada
Kimberley		V1A	Other region	BC	Canada
Kitimat		V8C	Other region	BC	Canada
Ladysmith		V9G	Other region	BC	Canada
Lower Skeena (Port Edward)		V0V	Other region	BC	Canada
Merritt		V1K	Other region	BC	Canada
Metchosin		V9C	Other region	BC	Canada
Nanaimo Central	Nanaimo	V9S	Other region	BC	Canada
Nanaimo North	Nanaimo	V9T	Other region	BC	Canada
Nanaimo Northwest	Nanaimo	V9V	Other region	BC	Canada
Nanaimo South	Nanaimo	V9R	Other region	BC	Canada
Nelson		V1L	Other region	BC	Canada
North Central Island and Bute Inle River)	t Region (Gold	V0P	Other region	BC	Canada
Northern British Columbia (Fort N	elson)	V0C	Other region	BC	Canada
Oak Bay North	Oak Bay	V8R	Other region	BC	Canada
Oak Bay South	Oak Bay	V8S	Other region	BC	Canada
Omineca and Yellowhead (Smither	rs)	V0J	Other region	BC	Canada
Parksville		V9P	Other region	BC	Canada
Penticton		V2A	Other region	BC	Canada
Port Alberni		V9Y	Other region	BC	Canada
Powell River		V8A	Other region	BC	Canada
Prince George East Central	Prince George	V2L	Other region	BC	Canada
Prince George North	Prince George	V2K	Other region	BC	Canada
Prince George South	Prince George	V2N	Other region	BC	Canada
Prince George West Central	Prince George	V2M	Other region	BC	Canada
Prince Rupert		V8J	Other region	BC	Canada
Qualicum Beach		V9K	Other region	BC	Canada

Quesnel		V2J	Other region	BC	Canada
Saanich Central	Saanich	V8Z	Other region	BC	Canada
Saanich East	Saanich	V8N	Other region	BC	Canada
Saanich North	Saanich	V8Y	Other region	BC	Canada
Saanich South	Saanich	V8X	Other region	BC	Canada
Saanich Southeast	Saanich	V8P	Other region	BC	Canada
Saanich West		V9E	Other region	BC	Canada
Salmon Arm		V1E	Other region	BC	Canada
Saltspring Island		V8K	Other region	BC	Canada
Sidney		V8L	Other region	BC	Canada
Sooke		V9Z	Other region	BC	Canada
South Okanagan (Summerland)		V0H	Other region	BC	Canada
Terrace		V8G	Other region	BC	Canada
Trail		V1R	Other region	BC	Canada
Upper Columbia Region (Golden)		V0A	Other region	BC	Canada
Vernon Central	Vernon	V1T	Other region	BC	Canada
Vernon East	Vernon	V1B	Other region	BC	Canada
Vernon West Victoria Central British Columbia	Vernon	V1H	Other region	BC	Canada
Provincial Government	Victoria	V8W	Other region	BC	Canada
Victoria North	Victoria	V8T	Other region	BC	Canada
Victoria South	Victoria	V8V	Other region	BC	Canada
West Kootenays (Rossland)		V0G	Other region	BC	Canada
Westbank		V4T	Other region	BC	Canada
Williams Lake		V2G	Other region	BC	Canada
Winfield		V4V	Other region	BC	Canada

Covariates remaining in model	Variable removed	Percent change
15	Maternal history	-0.04%
14	PA	0.26%
13	Fruit	-0.10%
12	Vegetables	-0.31%
11	Contraceptives	0.12%
10	Ethnicity	0.85%
9	Smoking	1.55%
8	Education	-1.22%
7	Birth	-0.08%
6	Alcohol	0.31%
5	Income	3.62%
4	Age	-0.50%

Table A2: Change-in-estimate HR ratio percent change for average NO2

Final model: BMI, material deprivation and social deprivation

\* Percent change based off of a 1-IQR increase

Table A3: Change-in-estimate HR ratio percent change for average NO2

Covariates remaining in model	Variable removed	Percent change*
15	Education	-0.15%
14	Birth	0.29%
13	Fruit	-0.02%
12	Ethnicity	0.21%
11	Vegetable	0.21%
10	Contraceptives	-0.38%
9	Smoking	-0.34%
8	Maternal history	0.58%
7	Alcohol	-0.51%
6	Age	-2.82%
5	Income	0.79%
4	PA	3.25%

Abbreviations: BMI, body mass index; PA: physical activity Final model: BMI, material deprivation and social deprivation

\* Percent change based off of a 1-IQR increase

Covariates remaining in model	Variable removed	Percent change*
15	Vegetable	-0.11%
14	Maternal history	0.10%
13	Ethnicity	0.33%
12	Fruit	-0.27%
11	Contraceptives	0.12%
10	Alcohol	0.13%
9	Smoking	0.82%
8	Age	-0.45%
7	Birth	0.42%
6	Education	-2.55%
5	Income	1.58%

## Table A4: Change-in-estimate HR ratio percent change for walkability

Abbreviations: BMI: body mass index; PA: physical activity

**Final model: BMI, PA, material deprivation and social deprivation** \* Percent change based off of a 1-quintile increase

Table A5: Change-in-estimate HR ratio percent change for green space (NDVI)

Covariates remaining in model	Variable removed	Percent change*
15	Vegetable	0.14%
14	Ethnicity	-0.08%
13	Maternal history	0.21%
12	Smoking	0.05%
11	Contraceptives	-0.89%
10	Fruit	0.33%
9	PA	-1.25%
8	Age	0.17%
7	Income	-0.67%
6	Material deprivation	-0.27%
5	Education	-0.27%
4	Birth	-1.23%
3	BMI	-0.02
2	Alcohol	-0.05

Abbreviations: BMI: body mass index; PA: physical activity Final model: social deprivation

\* Percent change based off of a 1-IQR increase

Covariates remaining in model	Variable removed	Percent change*
15	Smoking	0.07%
14	Contraceptives	-0.13%
13	Vegetables	0.15%
12	Ethnicity	-0.17%
11	Fruit	0.62%
10	Alcohol	-0.02%
9	Income	0.40%
8	Maternal history	-0.01%
7	Education	-1.38%
6	Age	0.43%
5	Birth	-1.46%
4	Material deprivation	1.88%
3	PA	-0.48%

 Table A6: Change-in-estimate HR ratio percent change for average green space (NDVI)

Abbreviations: BMI: body mass index; PA: physical activity Final model: BMI and social deprivation \* Percent change based off of a 1-IQR increase